PHYTOEXTRACTION OF CADMIUM, LEAD AND ZINC BY TWO METAL HYPERACCUMULATOR SPECIES AND METAL BIOAVAILABILITY IN THE RHIZOSPHERE

A thesis submitted in partial fulfilment of the requirements for the degree of

Master of Science

Natural Resources Management and Ecological Engineering, BOKU Natural Resources and Environment, CULS

> _{by} Eila Gendig

Supervisor: Ao.Univ.Prof. Dipl.-Ing. Dr. Walter W. Wenzel

Department of Forest- and Soil Sciences University of Natural Resources and Life Sciences (BOKU), Vienna

Co-Supervisor: Prof. Ing. Pavel Tlustoš, CSc.

Faculty of Agrobiology, Food and Natural Resources Czech University of Life Sciences (CULS), Prague

December 2010

Abstract

Contaminated soils pose a potential threat to any ecosystem and to biota. Decontaminating the affected areas is desirable, but often involves elaborate and expensive technical operations. Phytoextraction – the use of metal (hyper-)accumulating plants to extract the contaminant(s) – is being discussed as a low-cost technique for *in-situ* clean-up of metal-polluted soils.

The metal hyperaccumulator species *Arabidopsis halleri* and *Thlaspi caerulescens* were grown in rhizoboxes and rhizobags on two Czech Fluvisols with different levels of metal pollution in order to determine their phytoextraction potential and associated changes in bioavailable cadmium, lead and zinc concentrations in the rhizosphere.

The heavily polluted soil from Litavka contains (total in mg kg⁻¹) 27.4 Cd, 2460 Pb and 3220 Zn, the slightly polluted soil from Píšťany 1.4 Cd, 52.2 Pb and 186 Zn. Both soils have a similar texture (loamy sand) but a different pH (Litavka: 5.8; Píšťany: 7.0). The acetic acid extractable metal fractions reflect the bioavailable pollutant load.

Biomass production of roots and shoots and rosette diameters of both plant species were larger when grown on the heavily polluted soil Litavka in both experiments, indicating the plants' high metal tolerance. The higher pollutant level of soil Litavka was also reflected in larger metal concentrations in roots and shoots. Both plants were able to accumulate >4000 mg Zn kg⁻¹ dry matter (d.m.) and >100 mg Cd kg⁻¹ d.m. in their shoots, and with few exceptions, bioconcentration and translocation factors were >1, thus confirming the hyperaccumulation trait for these metals. In contrast, accumulation and translocation of lead by both plant species were small.

Independent of the soil trace metal concentration, the bioconcentration factor for cadmium and the cadmium content in biomass of *T. caerulescens* were higher than those of *A. halleri*. The translocation and bioconcentration factors for zinc and the zinc concentration in biomass were highest in *A. halleri* on the highly contaminated soil Litavka, whereas *T. caerulescens* was more efficient in accumulating zinc on the less polluted soil.

T. caerulescens accumulated 42 % and 18 % of the total soil cadmium during the 14 weeks of the experiment when grown on heavily and less polluted soil, respectively. Phytoextraction of zinc amounted to roughly 5 % of total zinc content in the root penetrated soil volume. However, the potential to remove zinc was dependent on the level of soil contamination as A. halleri absorbed more zinc on heavily polluted soil and T. caerulescens was superior on the soil with low trace metal concentration. The absorption of cadmium and zinc by T. caerulescens was reflected in the depletion of the acetic acid extractable metal fractions in the rhizosphere. Distinct rhizosphere activities might account for the observed mobilisation of trace metals on soil Litavka in the rhizosphere of A. halleri.

The results of this study confirm the high phytoextraction potential for cadmium and zinc of the investigated metal hyperaccumulator species and reveal the complex interaction with soil pollutant levels that needs to be addressed in the application of phytoextraction technologies.

Kurzfassung

Kontaminierte Böden stellen eine potentielle Gefahr für die Umwelt und für Lebewesen dar. Die Sanierung betroffener Areale ist zwar wünschenswert, gleichzeitig aber aufwändig und kostenintensiv. Phytoextraktion – der Einsatz von metall(hyper)akkumulierenden Pflanzen zur gezielten Extraktion von Kontaminanten – wird gegenwärtig als kostengünstige Maßnahme für die *in-situ* Sanierung verunreinigter Böden diskutiert.

Die spurenmetallhyperakkumulierenden Spezies Arabidopsis halleri und Thlaspi caerulescens wuchsen in Rhizobox- und Rhizobag-Experimenten auf zwei tschechischen Fluvisolen mit unterschiedlichem Grad der Spurenmetallbelastung, um das Phytoextraktionspotential und damit verbundene Veränderungen der pflanzenverfügbaren Cadmium-, Blei- und Zinkkonzentration in der Rhizosphäre zu ermitteln.

Der stark kontaminierte Boden aus Litavka enthält (Gesamt in mg kg⁻¹) 27,4 Cd, 2460 Pb und 3220 Zn, der Boden mit geringerer Belastung aus Píšťany 1,4 Cd, 52,2 Pb und 186 Zn. Beide Böden haben die gleiche Bodenart (lehmiger Sand), aber verschiedene pH-Werte (Litavka: 5,8; Píšťany: 7,0). Die Extraktion mit Essigsäure spiegelt den pflanzenverfügbaren Anteil der Spurenmetalle wider.

Die Biomasse der Wurzeln und der Sprosse, sowie die Durchmesser der Rosetten beider Arten waren auf dem stark kontaminierten Boden Litavka höher, was die hohe Metalltoleranz der Pflanzen bestätigt. Die höhere Metallbelastung des Bodens Litavka zeigt sich ebenfalls in den höheren Metallkonzentrationen in Wurzeln und Sprossen. Beide Spezies waren in der Lage >4000 mg Zn kg⁻¹ Trockenmasse und >100 mg Cd kg⁻¹ Trockenmasse zu akkumulieren. Die Biokonzentrations- und Translokationsfaktoren waren, bis auf wenige Ausnahmen, ebenfalls >1, was den Status der Pflanzen als Cd-/Zn-Hyperakkumulatoren untermauert. Demgegenüber waren die Akkumulation und die Translokation von Blei bei beiden Arten gering.

Die Biokonzentrationsfaktoren für Cadmium und die Konzentrationen von Cadmium in *Thlaspi* caerulescens waren, unabhängig von der Metallbelastung des Bodens, höher, als in der verwandten Spezies *Arabidopsis halleri*. Im Gegensatz zu Cadmium ist die Effizienz der Zinkaufnahme vom Grad der Belastung abhängig, da auf dem Boden mit hoher Metalllast *A. halleri* höhere Biokonzentrations- und Translokationsfaktoren sowie höhere Zinkkonzentrationen in der Biomasse aufwies. *T. caerulescens* wiederum war auf dem Boden mit der vergleichsweise geringen Metallbelastung effizienter.

T. caerulescens akkumulierte 42% (hoch kontaminierter Boden) bzw. 18% (gering kontaminierter Boden) des im Boden enthaltenen Cadmiums während des 14-wöchigen Experiments. Die Phytoextraktion von Zink belief sich auf beiden Böden auf etwa 5% des Gesamtgehaltes an

Zink im durchwurzelten Boden, wobei *A. halleri* auf dem stark kontaminierten Boden höhere Werte erzielte und *T. caerulescens* hingegen auf dem weniger belasteten Boden. Die Aufnahme von Cadmium und Zink durch *T. caerulescens* wurde durch die Verringerung der Essigsäureextrahierbaren Metallfraktion des Bodens reflektiert. Unterschiede in der Wurzelaktivität der beiden Pflanzen könnten die beobachtete Mobilisierung von Metallen in der Rhizosphäre von *A. halleri* erklären.

Die Ergebnisse dieser Studie bekräftigen das große Phytoextraktionspotential für Cadmium und Zink der beiden untersuchten metallhyperakkumulierenden Pflanzenarten. Gleichzeitig verdeutlichen sie die Komplexität der Boden-Pflanze-Interaktionen, welche bei dem Einsatz von Phytoextraktionsmaßnahmen bedacht werden müssen.

Table of Contents

ABST	TRACT	
<u>KURZ</u>	ZFASSUNG	
INDE	EX OF FIGURES	I
INDE	EX OF TABLES	II
<u>1.</u>	INTRODUCTION	1
1.1.	AN OVERVIEW ON PLANTS	2
1.1.1.	RHIZOSPHERE	2
1.1.2.	Hyperaccumulators	4
1.2.	TRACE METALS AND THEIR BIOAVAILABILITY IN SOILS	5
<u>2.</u>	RESEARCH OBJECTIVE	
<u>3.</u>	MATERIAL AND METHODS	9
3.1.	Soil Pre-treatment	9
3.2.	PREPARATION OF PLANTS	9
3.3.	RHIZOBAGS	10
3.4.	Rhizoboxes	10
3.5.	ANALYSIS OF PLANT MATERIAL	12
3.5.1.	PLANT HARVEST	12
3.5.2.	TRACE METALS IN PLANT MATERIAL	12
3.6.	ANALYSIS OF SOIL MATERIAL	12
3.6.1.	RHIZOBAG SOIL SAMPLING	12
3.6.2.	RHIZOBOX SOIL SAMPLING	13
3.6.3.	AQUA REGIA DIGESTION	13
3.6.4.	ORGANIC CARBON CONTENT OF SOIL	13
3.6.5.	DETERMINATION OF SOIL PH	13
3.6.6.	EXTRACTION WITH ACETIC ACID	14
3.6.7.	ANALYSIS OF SOIL EXTRACTS	14
3.7.	CALCULATION OF HYPERACCUMULATION CRITERIA	14
3.7.1.	BIOCONCENTRATION FACTOR	15
3.7.2.	TRANSLOCATION FACTOR	15
3.8.	VERIFICATION OF ACCURACY OF MEASUREMENTS	15
3.9.	STATISTICAL ANALYSIS	16

<u>4.</u>	RESULTS	17
4.1.	RHIZOBAGS	17
4.1.1.	CADMIUM IN PLANT BIOMASS	17
4.1.2.	LEAD IN PLANT BIOMASS	19
4.1.3.	ZINC IN PLANT BIOMASS	20
4.1.4.	TRACE METAL CONCENTRATIONS IN ACETIC ACID EXTRACTS	21
4.2.	RHIZOBOXES	23
4.2.1.	CADMIUM IN PLANT BIOMASS	23
4.2.2.	LEAD IN PLANT BIOMASS	24
4.2.3.	ZINC IN PLANT BIOMASS	25
4.2.4.	TRACE METAL CONCENTRATIONS IN ACETIC ACID EXTRACTS	26
<u>5.</u>	DISCUSSION	30
5.1.	EXPERIMENTAL PROBLEMS AND CONSIDERATIONS	30
5.2.	BIOMASS PRODUCTION	30
5.3.	HYPERACCUMULATION TRAITS AND PHYTOEXTRACTION POTENTIAL	31
5.4.	CHANGES OF METAL EXTRACTABILITY IN THE RHIZOSPHERE	33
<u>6.</u>	CONCLUSION	35
<u>7.</u>	REFERENCES	36
8.	DECLARATION OF AUTHORSHIP	43

Index of Figures

Figure 1:	Cadmium concentration in shoot and root material of A. halleri and T. caerulescens18
Figure 2:	Lead concentration in shoot and root material of A. halleri and T. caerulescens
Figure 3:	Zinc concentration in mg kg ⁻¹ dry plant material of the hyperaccumulating species <i>A. halleri</i> and <i>T. caerulescens</i>
Figure 4:	Cadmium, lead and zinc concentration in soil samples from inside and outside the rhizobags
Figure 5:	Cadmium concentration in samples of <i>A. halleri</i> and <i>T. caerulescens</i> when grown on contaminated soils from the Czech Republic
Figure 6:	Lead concentration in mg kg ⁻¹ dry biomass of the hyperaccumulating plants <i>A. halleri</i> and <i>T. caerulescens</i>
Figure 7:	Zinc concentration in plant species <i>A. halleri</i> and <i>T. caerulescens</i> after growth on two contaminated soils
Figure 8:	Cadmium, lead and zinc concentrations in acetic acid extracts of dried samples (n=4) of soils Litavka and Píšťany

Index of Tables

Table 1: Statutory limits for cadmium, lead and zinc in arable lands (in mg kg ⁻¹ dry soil) of Germany, the Czech Republic and Austria
Table 2: Important soil characteristics of those soils used in this study9
Table 3: Mean values (± SEM) of plant growth characteristics (biomass is given in g) in the rhizobag experiment at harvest
Table 4: Cadmium content (in µg) in biomass and bioconcentration and translocation factors (± SEM) of cadmium for <i>Arabidopsis halleri</i> and <i>Thlaspi caerulescens</i>
Table 5: Lead content (in µg) in biomass and bioconcentration and translocation factors (± SEM) of lead for <i>Arabidopsis halleri</i> and <i>Thlaspi caerulescens</i>
Table 6: Zinc content (in mg) in biomass and bioconcentration and translocation factors(± SEM) of zinc for Arabidopsis halleri and Thlaspi caerulescens
Table 7: Biomass (in g) of roots and shoots (± SEM) of A. halleri and T. caerulescens when grownin rhizoboxes filled with soil from Litavka and Píšťany23
Table 8: Cadmium content (in µg) in biomass and bioconcentration and translocation factors (± SEM) of cadmium for <i>Arabidopsis halleri</i> and <i>Thlaspi caerulescens</i>
Table 9: Lead content (in µg) in biomass and bioconcentration and translocation factors (± SEM) of lead for <i>Arabidopsis halleri</i> and <i>Thlaspi caerulescens</i>
Table 10: Zinc content (in ug) in biomass and bioconcentration and translocation factors

1. Introduction

The human impact on soils is manifold. Possibly resulting in soil erosion, soil compaction, sealing, loss of soil organic matter, decline in soil biodiversity, salinisation, floods and landslides and soil contamination.¹ Obvious examples of soil pollution could be waste disposal sites and fertilisation of agricultural areas. Abrasion of rubber tires, exhaustion fumes from cars and industry, pollution from mining and smelter increase the geogenic trace element² concentrations, as well.

However, soil is not exclusively a sink for various substances. It serves as a buffer and habitat and is intertwined and integrated in a network with the air, water and biota. Soil is a source for the mineral nutrition of many higher plants. Plants on the other hand, being on the lower end of the food chain, are an integral part of the diet of animals and humans. Potentially toxic substances can thus be transferred from soil to everyone's kitchen table. Recently, a headline in the *Frankfurter Allgemeine Zeitung*, a German supraregional newspaper with high circulation read "Zu viel Cadmium: Schatten über der edlen Kakaokultur" ("Too much cadmium: Shadow over the noble cocoa culture") (Hucklenbroich, 2010).

Reconstituting initial soil conditions is impossible, as soils have been used and altered considerably by man over time. Lowering the acute risk emanating from polluted arable lands by monitoring of and research on contaminated lands and the development of remediation techniques is encouraged by governments and international institutions. Of late, several institutes across Europe intended to collaborate in a biotechnological approach in soil bioremediation termed "UMBRELLA" ("Using microbes for the regulation of heavy metal mobility at ecosystem and landscape scale"), co-financed by the European Union. In addition to the use of microorganisms in on-site remediation projects, specific plants extract and concentrate selected elements from the environment, hence enabling removal of the element(s) in question from contaminated areas (Cunningham et al., 1995; Cunningham and Ow, 1996; Salt et al., 1995).

¹ Eight main threats to soils defined by the EU in its "Thematic Strategy for Soil Protection" (Commission of the European Communities, 2002).

² In colloquial language, the term "heavy metal" is widely used, usually referring to toxic elements but not being explicitly defined. Scientific use of the term is not encouraged by the "International Union of Pure and Applied Chemistry" (IUPAC), as meaning depends on the author's definition and could be based on density, atomic mass or atomic number (Duffus, 2002). Due to the different uses and non-existence of a universal definition, the term "heavy metal" will be avoided in this work and "trace metal" or "trace element" will be used instead.

1.1. An overview on plants

Plants are photoautotrophic organisms, meaning that they only rely on sunlight as a source of energy. During photosynthesis, light energy is converted to chemical energy, whereby carbon dioxide and water molecules are rearranged to form molecular oxygen, water and glucose.³ Energy by itself is not sufficient for the synthesis of new plant material. More than 90% of all plant matter consists of carbon, oxygen and hydrogen molecules. The remaining 10% can be attributed to 16 additional essential chemical elements, which can be sorted by their main functions. They are required for building organic compounds in cells (nitrogen and sulphur), for structural integrity and catabolism (phosphorus, boron and silicon), ionic elements in cells supporting for example enzyme-functioning (potassium, sodium, magnesium, calcium, manganese and chlorine) and for electron transfer (iron, copper, zinc, molybdenum and nickel) (Campbell and Reece, 2002; Taiz and Zeiger, 2000). As these elements have some fundamental physiological function in a plant's life cycle or are required for structural integrity of cellular components, they are considered essential nutrients.⁴

Plants, in contrast to most animals, are immobile and have to cope with their immediate surroundings. Hence, they are obliged to make use of whatever is available to them. As they themselves cannot change the nutrient content in and chemical composition of the soil, roots have to selectively regulate uptake of compounds in order to ensure an optimal mineral nutrition of the whole plant. Plants have evolved diverse mechanisms to strive even under adverse conditions, such as absence and excess of water, extreme temperatures or seasonal changes thereof, limited supply of nutrients and surplus of salts; some species are specialised for specific ecological niches. On soils with elevated trace metal contents, these adaptations may range from the exclusion of toxic or abundant minerals to accumulation of specific trace metals.

1.1.1. Rhizosphere

A prerequisite for nutrient absorption is the bioavailability of the element in question. Sorption processes, weathering and biological degradation continuously influence the chemical equilibrium between the solid, gaseous and liquid phases of the soil system. Salts and their ions, colloids and organic solutes are thus passed to the interstitial water. Dissolved minerals are transported towards the plant via transpiration-driven mass flow and diffusion. At the root

³ The process of photosynthesis can be summarized in the chemical equation:

 $^{6 \}text{ CO}_2 + 12 \text{ H}_2\text{O} + \text{photons} \rightarrow \text{C}_6\text{H}_{12}\text{O}_6 + 6 \text{ O}_2 + 6 \text{ H}_2\text{O}$

⁴ Following Arnon and Stout (1939), an element is considered essential, if a deficiency in this nutrient hinders the plant to accomplish its life cycle and to produce a new generation of offspring. The element in question must be directly involved in the nutrition of a plant and characteristics of a deficiency would be specific for this one element, apart from possible amendments to better an unfavourable growth environment.

surface, inorganic ions in the soil solution⁵ are absorbed and passed across the membrane, usually in exchange for other ions with the same charge.⁶

For obvious reasons, plant-induced changes in the soil body are most pronounced closest to the root surface. Additionally, various microorganisms⁷ densely populate this area due to favourable chemical and physical changes in the soil. The influence of plant roots on the adjacent soil has already been described by Hiltner a century ago, who introduced the term "rhizosphere"⁸ for the "zone of soil surrounding the root which is affected by it" (Hiltner, 1904).

By emitting exudates⁹ from roots, plants can also alter "(...) the soil microbial community in their immediate vicinity, influence resistance to pests, support beneficial symbioses, alter the chemical and physical properties of the soil, and inhibit the growth of competing plant species" (Bertin et al., 2003).

Despite the introduction of protons to the soil, total soil pH is usually unaltered, as it is buffered by exchangeable base cations (Ca²⁺, Na⁺, Mg²⁺, K⁺). Nevertheless, a local lowering of soil pH either by direct release of protons or organic acids from the root or by dissolution of carbon dioxide in water and its conversion to carbonic acid and subsequent deprotonation to carbonates¹⁰ increases the solubility of nutrients, among others phosphate, copper and zinc (Jones, 1998). Next to acidification, mobilisation of nutrients or metallic elements varies even with the type of acid secreted by plants (Schwab et al., 2008). Nevertheless, enhancing the mobilisation of macronutrients (e.g. zinc) might not necessarily correlate with an increased rate of zinc uptake (McGrath et al., 1997). Generally, excretion of protons and the resulting acidification and release of organic carbon compounds from roots are thought to enhance the solubility of essential nutrients and bioavailable elements in rhizosphere soils. Zhao et al. (2001) found no effect of carbonate exudates excreted by *Thlaspi caerulescens* on mobilisation of cadmium and zinc. But the excretion of low-molecular weight organic acids by rice (*Oryza sativa* (L.)) was found to increase

 $CO_2 + H_2O \rightleftharpoons H_2CO_3 \rightleftharpoons H^+ + HCO_3 \rightleftharpoons 2H^+ + CO_3^2$ (Robbins, 1985).

⁵ Soil solution is here defined as the "dilute solution of electrolytes at equilibrium with definable solid phase and gas phase components of the soil" (Adams, 1974).

⁶ Protons (H⁺) and hydroxides (OH⁻) are dispensed by the root surface when taking up cations and anions, respectively (Haynes, 1990).

⁷ E.g. bacteria, fungi, algae, lichens, unicellular protozoa or nematodes.

⁸ In the original German version of the essay, the definition reads: "Der unmittelbar an eine Wurzel angrenzende Raum, der von ihr beeinflußt wird und sich durch eine besondere Flora und Fauna auszeichnet.". See Darrah (1993) for explanation and history of this term. Rhizosphere processes include physical (e.g. pressure exhibited by roots), chemical (e.g. change in redox potential, removal of water or dynamics of nutrients) and biological (e.g. accumulation of microorganisms, root exudation or oxygen release from the roots) effects.

⁹ Predominant exudates are sugars and amino acids (Campbell and Greaves, 1990), but all soluble chemical compounds occurring in plant cells could be lost to soil (Whipps, 1990).

¹⁰ Carbon dioxide results from the decomposition of organic matter and might react with the soil pore water to form carbonic acid, which might dissociate in two reactions to carbonate and protons:

bioavailable soil zinc concentrations (Hoffland et al., 2006) and cadmium was solubilised by exudates of *Nicotiana* spp. (Mench and Martin, 1991). Although these data were retrieved under uncontaminated or even deficient nutrient status, they show that plant-induced cadmium and zinc solubilisation is theoretically possible. Concerning trace metal mobilisation by *Arabidopsis halleri*, the effects of exudates have not been documented yet.

Changes in soil pH are often observed in rhizosphere soil, as plants counterbalance the charges resulting from the uptake of ionic nutrients by secreting protons or hydroxides (Haynes, 1990). The released ions may enhance the availability of a series of nutritive substances (Lucas and Davis, 1961) by altering the pH of the soil (if soil buffer capacity is exhausted). If acidification is the dominant mechanism by which *T. caerulescens* accumulates zinc and cadmium is being discussed controversially (Knight et al., 1997; Luo et al., 2000; McGrath et al., 1997; Wang et al., 2006).

1.1.2. Hyperaccumulators

The first who introduced the term "hyperaccumulator" for plant samples with an unusually high metal concentration in their tissues were Brooks et al. (1977). They described herbarium species containing more than 1000 mg nickel kg⁻¹ dry matter in foliar matter. As different plants can accumulate a variety of different metals, the term was more generalised; accumulation of trace metals and translocation to any above-ground plant tissue of plants grown in their natural habitat, resulting in approximately 100 times higher concentrations than in normal species is pivotal (Baker and Brooks, 1989). In terms of zinc, lead and cadmium, the hyperaccumulation criterion applies, if metal concentration in leaves is greater than 10000 mg kg⁻¹ (1%), 1000 mg kg⁻¹ (0.1%) and 100 mg kg⁻¹ plant dry matter (0.01%), respectively (Baker and Brooks, 1989; Shah and Nongkynrih, 2007).

Hyperaccumulating plants have been found in a variety of plant families, each assimilating one or more specific trace metals. *Arabidopsis halleri* and *Thlaspi caerulescens* are both members of the family *Brassicaceae* and both known for their ability to hyperaccumulate cadmium and zinc. Even though they produce rather little biomass, their advantage is a relatively short life-cycle, poor colonisation with mycorrhiza¹¹, their small size, which makes them ideal for pot experiments, and the widely-accepted implementation as model organisms (e.g. the related *Arabidopsis thaliana* in genetics and molecular biology and *Thlaspi caerulescens* or *Thlaspi goesingense* as hyper-

¹¹ Symbiosis with mycorrhiza in the family Brassicaceae (equivalent to "Cruciferae" (McNeill et al., 2006)) is not widespread (Newman and Reddell, 1987; Harley and Harley, 1987). According to Regvar et al. (2003), roots of *Thlaspi* spp. show signs of fungal colonisation. The authors believe that this symbiosis does not affect the plant's tolerance to and uptake of trace metals, as colonisation is faint.

accumulators) provides a multitude of background research. As *Thlaspi caerulescens* naturally accumulates cadmium and zinc in high concentrations, and has been known for hyper-accumulation for over a century (Sachs, 1865), this species has been investigated most (Reeves and Baker, 2000, cited in Küpper et al., 2000; Lasat, 2002). Measured trace metal concentrations of 43710 mg Zn kg⁻¹, 2740 mg Pb kg⁻¹ (Reeves and Baker, 2000) and 12000 mg Cd kg⁻¹ (Mádico et al., 1992) dry matter in the shoot tissue of *T. caerulescens* have been reported. Cadmium concentrations in *A. halleri* shoot tissue were found to exceed 1000 mg kg⁻¹ dry matter (Zhao et al., 2006), lead concentrations 70 mg kg⁻¹ dry matter (Bert et al., 2002) and zinc concentrations 32000 mg kg⁻¹ dry matter (Zhao et al., 2000).

Adaptations at the physiological level are required to achieve these trace metal concentrations and to avoid phytotoxicity. In contrast to non-accumulating species, zinc transporters in the plasma membrane of *Thlaspi caerulescens* are much more abundant (Pence et al., 2000), metal sequestration in the root vacuole is reduced, enabling transport of zinc back across the tonoplast, the xylem loading rate is increased and transfer of zinc across the leaf cell plasma membrane is enhanced (Küpper et al., 1999; Lasat et al., 1998; Milner and Kochian, 2008; Papoyan et al., 2007).

The mitigation of hazardous environmental pollution mediated by natural hyperaccumulators or genetically modified plants, bacteria, fungi or algae in soils or water is termed bioremediation. In recent times, their potential to immobilise or degrade organic pollutants or to accumulate certain trace metals in harvestable material has been discussed as a possible *in-situ* decontamination method (Salt et al., 1995). The verification of *T. caerulescens* and *A. halleri* as cadmium and zinc hyperaccumulators makes them suitable candidates for further research in the field of phytoextraction.

1.2. Trace metals and their bioavailability in soils

Organic toxicants can potentially be alleviated by decomposition and degradation processes (Meagher, 2000). In contrast, metallic elements and ions cannot be eliminated. As chemical elements, mitigation of trace metals in soils occurs solely by adsorption to soil particles, complexation, speciation and precipitation or uptake into and metabolisation by biota (Eklund, 1995; Ernst, 1996; Yong et al., 1992).

Of the metal fractions associated with soil, free ionic metals and soluble complexes containing metallic elements are mobile and can diffuse towards living organisms in the soil (Lasat, 2000). Additionally, metals "adsorbed to inorganic soil constituents at ion exchange sites [...] are readily available for plant uptake" (Lasat, 2000). Trace metals bound electrostatically to charged

soil surfaces are buffering trace metal concentration in soil solution (Whiting et al., 2003). Soils and trace metals are affected by a range of biotic and abiotic processes. As exchangeable trace metals are replenishing element concentrations in soil solution, they eventually become part of the fraction of soil, which is available for plant uptake (Marschner, 1995).

Besides, bioavailability requires the chemical element to become involved in an organism's metabolism (Adriano, 2001). Soil solution trace metal concentration is impacted by ionic strength, pH, competing ions, loading rate and counter ions in soil (Harter and Naidu, 2001). Trace metal mobility is also based on soil type and characteristics, such as amount of Fe- and Mn-oxides, cation exchange capacity (CEC), the soil's redox potential and organic matter content (Kookana et al., 1999; Römkens and Salomons, 1998). However, some fractions of an element might not be bioavailable at all.

Apart from soil parameters, plant species and genotype, the stage of the plant's life-cycle and exudation of organic acids or carbohydrates all interfere with the absorption of nutrients and non-essential elements. To assess the transfer of contaminants or chemicals from the environment into living tissue, the bioconcentration factor was introduced as the ratio of the concentration of the chemical in the plant or its organs and the contaminant concentration in the soil (see Equation 1 on page 15). In a general ranking of accumulated quantitative transfer of elements from the soil to the plant, zinc has been established in the front rank. Following are in decreasing order: copper, chromium, nickel, manganese, lead, cadmium, arsenic and mercury (Chojnacka et al., 2005).

Table 1: Statutory limits for cadmium, lead and zinc in arable lands (in mg kg⁻¹ dry soil) of Germany, the Czech Republic and Austria. The Federal Republic of Germany decreed precaution values for trace metals in arable lands extracted with aqua regia (Bundesbodenschutz- und Altlastenverordnung). Regulations in the Czech Republic allow for the listed values in soil trace metal concentration in "aqua regia" extracts (Anonymous, 2001). In Austria, maximum levels of trace metal contamination are defined by the federal states themselves. The values presented here refer to the ÖNORM L 1075, which depicts admissible maximum levels of harmful substances.

	Germany	Czech Republic	Austria
Cadmium	0.4; 1.0; 1.5 ^a	0.4; 1.0 ^b	1.0 °; 0.5 d
Lead	40; 70; 100 ^a	100; 140 ^ь	100 c
Zinc	60; 150; 200 ^a	130; 200 ^b	300 c

^a For sandy soils; loamy soils; clays.

^b For light soils; other soils.

^cBenchmark (so-called "Richtwert") in ÖNORM L 1075.

^d For light or slightly acidic soils.

The mobile pool of elements is equivalent to the sum of the soluble and the exchangeable element fractions in soil, specifying the bioavailable forms. In practice, the mobile pool of trace elements is related to their concentration in soil solution (Kabata-Pendias, 1995) or could be approximated from dried soils after elution with extracting agents. Essential nutrients can potentially hold a detrimental feature, as toxicity of trace metals is concentration dependent. The uptake into plants poses a potential threat of the trace metal being transferred to the food chain, hence governments have set critical values for a range of chemicals to be present in soils. Table 1 shows admissible levels of selected trace metal in arable lands in selected European countries.

2. Research Objective

Many hyperaccumulating plants have been examined for their potential of remediating trace element contaminated soils. Among the cadmium- and zinc-accumulating perennial plants, *Thlaspi caerulescens* and *Arabidopsis halleri* are the most explored species. However, information on the interaction of their phytoextraction potential with soil properties, in particular pollutant level, is still limited but needed for the improvement of phytoextraction applications. Moreover, little is still known about changes of metal bioavailability in the rhizosphere of phytoextraction crops.

Therefore the main objectives of this study were:

- To investigate the potential for phytoextraction of cadmium, lead and zinc of the two related hyperaccumulators *Arabidopsis halleri* and *Thlaspi caerulescens* at differing levels of soil pollution.
- To examine the impact of the plants on an extractable metal fraction in soil to assess possible effects of rhizosphere activities on metal bioavailability.

3. Material and Methods

3.1. Soil Pre-treatment

This study was conducted with two Fluvisols from the Czech Republic. Both feature trace metal contamination from anthropogenic sources, especially with cadmium, lead and zinc. Soils were sampled from the heavily polluted alluvium of the river Litavka and from the alluvium of the river Labe (called "Elbe" in German), near the village of Píšt'any. In this study, soils will be labelled "Litavka" and "Píšt'any", according to their points of origin. Concentrations of cadmium and zinc (see Table 2) on both sampling sites are above Czech statutory limits for arable lands of 0.4 mg kg⁻¹ and 130 mg kg⁻¹, respectively (Anonymous, 2001). Table 2 depicts some soil characteristics and total cadmium, lead and zinc concentrations of the experimental soils.

Table 2: Important soil characteristics of those soils used in this study. Oxidisable carbon content (Carbon_{ox}) and pH were determined after extraction with 1M K₂Cr₂O₇ and 0.01M CaCl₂. Soil was sieved in order to determine the sand (particle size: 0.05 mm – 2 mm), silt (0.002 mm – 0.05mm) and clay ($\leq 2 \mu m$) fractions. Total trace metals concentrations were determined after digestion with aqua regia as described by Száková et al. (2009).

Location	Carbon _{ox} (mg kg ⁻¹)	pН	Sand (g kg ⁻¹)	Silt (g kg ⁻¹)	Clay (g kg ⁻¹)	Cadmium (mg kg ⁻¹)	Lead (mg kg ⁻¹)	Zinc (mg kg ⁻¹)
Litavka	23.1	5.8	659	256	85	27.4	2460	3220
Píšťany	37.5	7.0	654	229	116	1.4	52.2	186

Soil samples were dried and mixed thoroughly to ensure a homogeneous character in all conducted experiments. Soil was stored in plastic bags at outside temperature.

3.2. Preparation of Plants

Arabidopsis halleri (L.) O'KANE & AL-SHEHBAZ (ecotype: Litavka, Czech Republic) and *Thlaspi caerulescens* J. & C. PRESL (ecotype: Ganges, France) were sown into commercially available potting soil. At the two-leaf stage, plants were individually transferred to growth trays with separate cells filled with potting soil. Seedlings were watered twice daily with demineralised water.¹²

¹² For these experiments, only demineralised water was used for irrigation. On August 14th, 2008, pH of the water was 6.12 (pH-metre: regom instruments, WTW, Typ: pH 340i) and conductivity was measured to be 0.001 mS cm⁻¹.

3.3. Rhizobags

Six kilograms of soil were fertilised with 0.5 g nitrogen, 0.154 g phosphorus and 0.45 g potassium, supplied as NH_4NO_3 and K_2HPO_3 , each dissolved in demineralised water. Fertiliser was well incorporated into the soil to prevent nutrient hot spots. Soil was sieved to ≤ 2 mm. One kilogram of the prepared soil was filled into a nylon bag with a mesh size of 43 µm, restricting growth of roots to the outer compartment, but not of root hairs.¹³ These rhizobags were placed in the centre of commercially available five litre plastic buckets and surrounded by the remaining five kilograms of soil so that soil surfaces inside and outside the bags were on equal level. Drill holes in the bottom plate of buckets allowed drainage of excess water.

One sprout was planted centrally into the nylon bag of each bucket. Each soil-plant combination was prepared in quadruples.

Plants were watered twice a day and kept at semi-covered, rain-proof outdoor stands. Fungicide (0.15% Topsin[®]) was applied after two weeks of growth. The experiment was terminated after 14 weeks by harvesting plants.

3.4. Rhizoboxes

The rhizobox-system developed by Wenzel et al. (2001) was used in this experiment. Soil was sieved to ≤ 2 mm. Small quantities were filled to upper rhizobox compartments (50 x 64 x 130, height x depth x width (in mm)), sprayed with demineralised water and slightly compacted. Repeating this procedure ensured an even soil density within each compartment and between compartments. Three wicks for water supply were inserted into each box via lateral sockets as soon as the compacted soil was on the same level as the opening and covered with further soil layers. On average, 461 g ± 8 g¹⁴ dry soil from locality Litavka and 567 g ± 6 g dry soil from locality Píšťany were processed per box.

As much potting soil as possible was removed from roots of pre-grown seedlings. Three prepared plants were planted in a row into each box, when the soil level was approximately 15 mm

¹³ Assuming a mean root hair diameter of 5-17 μm for Angiosperms in general (Jungk, 2001), and more specifically 6-7 μm for plants of genus *Arabidopsis* (Ketelaar et al., 2008) and 10 μm for *Thlaspi goesingense* (Himmelbauer et al., 2005). Diameter of roots themselves amounts to 80-100 μm in genus *Arabidopsis* (Bowman, 1994) and in family *Brassicaceae*, root diameter of main roots is specified with up to 1.2 mm (*Cardamine pratensis*), in rare cases even exceeding 1 cm (*Lepidium crassifolium*). Secondary roots commonly range from 0.7 mm to 0.9 mm in diameter in *Brassicaceae* (Kutschera et al., 1992).

¹⁴ Representing \pm one standard error of the mean.

below its upper rim. Boxes were then filled to the top with soil. In total, eight boxes were prepared per soil. Four compartments of each soil were cropped with *A. halleri*, whereas the second half was planted with *T. caerulescens*.

All upper compartments were kept in an air-conditioned room (21 °C) in the greenhouse. The incorporated wicks were inserted into an elevated water reservoir for continuous passive watering. Plants were additionally watered twice a day from above.

Some plants did not cope with the transfer to contaminated soil or were slightly damaged in the process, as they wilted within one week. These were replaced by new ones of the same age.

Fungicide (Topsin[®]) in a concentration of 0.15% was sprayed on all plants in the upper parts of the rhizobox-system 20 days after planting.

Lower compartments were prepared another three weeks later. Four wicks were inserted and placed to the rear boundary of each compartment at differing heights for an even water supply. Bottom plates of upper parts were removed and upper and lower compartments containing soil from the same sampling site were assembled, hence enabling roots to grow through the slit into the free space between the acrylic window and the membrane. The membrane's mesh size was 43 µm and restricted growth of roots, but not of root hairs, to the soil-only compartment.¹⁵ To protect roots from sunlight, the lower part of the system was wrapped with aluminium foil. All wicks were inserted into elevated plastic water-reservoirs containing demineralised water for irrigation.

The speed of root growth into the free space in the lower compartment varied considerable between plant species and soil type. The clamp device for fixing the acrylic window was installed 33 days after assembly. Plants were harvested ten weeks after having assembled the upper and lower compartment.

¹⁵ See footnote on page 10 on diameter of root hairs and roots.

3.5. Analysis of plant material

3.5.1. Plant harvest

Foliar plant material was sampled by cutting plants right above the substrate's surface. Aboveground biomass was cleaned by washing with demineralised water and blotted dry. Fresh weight was recorded and plant tissue was dried in aluminium trays at 40°C. Roots were separated from soil particles as good as possible, rinsed with demineralised water and blotted dry. Fresh weight was taken before roots were dried at elevated room temperature (~ 25°C). Dry weight was measured prior to homogenisation of plant tissue in an ordinary kitchen blender. Root and shoot samples were stored separately in paper bags.

3.5.2. Trace metals in plant material

Approximately one gram of plant material was transferred to a glass digestion flask. The exact weight of the sample was recorded to three positions after decimal for later determination of trace metal concentration. If possible, two aliquots of each plant sample were analysed. Biomass was dry-ashed and its residues were dissolved in 20 mL 1.5 % HNO₃. Individual test tubes were sealed with Parafilm[®] and kept in the fridge (4°C) until analysis. Blanks without plant matter amounted to ten per cent of total sample number. Trace metal concentration was determined by inductively coupled plasma optical emission spectroscopy with axial plasma configuration (ICP-OES; VARIAN, VistaPro, equipped with auto-sampler SPS-5, Australia) at the Department of Agrochemistry and Plant Nutrition at the Czech University of Life Sciences (CZU - CULS), Prague, Czech Republic.

3.6. Analysis of soil material

Different extracting agents were used in order to determine initial total trace metal concentration in both soils and the exchangeable fractions of selected trace metals of experimental soils.

3.6.1. Rhizobag soil sampling

Batches of soil from inside and from outside the rhizobag were taken, dried at outside temperatures, ground and sieved to ≤ 2 mm. Individual samples were stored in plastic bags in the dark at room temperature.

3.6.2. Rhizobox soil sampling

At point of harvest, different soil fractions from rhizoboxes were sampled for analysis. From the upper compartment, a single soil sample devoid of plant material (especially roots) was withdrawn. Soil in the lower compartment of rhizoboxes was chipped into sections measuring 2 mm in thickness using a slicing device developed by Fitz et al. (2003a). Starting at the membrane-side of the lower compartment, four slices were sampled.¹⁶ A fifth soil sample was collected towards the rear of the box, referred to as "bulk soil" in this study. Weight of all samples was recorded before and after soil samples were dried in petri dishes at room temperature. Dry soil samples were transferred to small plastic bags for storage.

3.6.3. Aqua regia digestion

Total trace metal concentration in soil was determined with aqua regia as described by Száková et al. (2009) before beginning the experiments.

3.6.4. Organic carbon content of soil

Organic carbon content of soil samples was determined spectrophotometrically after oxidation of the organic fraction of soil with $K_2Cr_2O_7$ following the procedure of Sims and Haby (1971). 1g of soil was agitated well with 10 mL 1M potassium dichromate and 20 mL sulphuric acid (conc.) and left to stand for 20 minutes. Distilled water was used to bring the volume to 100 mL. The suspension was filtered and absorbance of the filtrate was measured at 600 nm.

3.6.5. Determination of soil pH

Soil pH was determined in an aqueous 0.01 M $CaCl_2$ extract. A soil sample of 1 g was mixed with 20 mL of $CaCl_2$, left for equilibration and filtered. The pH of the filtrate was determined (pH-metre: regom instruments, WTW, Typ: pH 340i). The room temperature was kept constant at 20 ± 1 °C during the procedure.

¹⁶ Due to the permeability of the membrane by root hairs, soil in the first slice (0-2 mm) was likely directly influenced by the plants, as root hair length of *Thlaspi caerulescens* varies from 1.9 mm to 2.1 mm on zinc-rich soil (Whiting et al., 2000; Whiting et al., 2001). Similar values were assumed for *Arabidopsis halleri*.

3.6.6. Extraction with acetic acid

Extraction with 0.11 M acetic acid is supposed to liberate bioavailable and exchangeable trace metals and carbonate salts (Chen et al., 2001) and partially trace metals bound to oxides (Száková et al, 2000), therefore possibly overestimating trace metal concentrations potentially available for plant uptake.

Aliquots of soil samples weighing one gram were agitated with 20 mL 0.11 M acetic acid overnight (16 h). The liquid phase was poured to test tubes after centrifugation for 10 minutes at 20 °C, 2000 g. Vials were sealed with Parafilm[®], stored in the fridge (4°C) and analysed as soon as possible.

3.6.7. Analysis of soil extracts

If not specified differently, cadmium and lead concentrations in the extracts from soil Píšťany were measured by graphite furnace atomic absorption spectroscopy (GF-AAS) at the Department of Chemistry at CZU, Prague. The higher concentration of these elements in soil Litavka and the zinc concentration from both soils permitted determination by ICP-OES (VARIAN, VistaPro, equipped with auto-sampler SPS-5, Australia) at the Department of Agrochemistry and Plant Nutrition at CZU, Prague.

3.7. Calculation of hyperaccumulation criteria

As hyperaccumulation is characterised by a high uptake of contaminants from the soil and a high translocation to aerial plant parts, the bioconcentration factor and the translocation factor were used to verify the extent of the hyperaccumulation potential.

3.7.1. Bioconcentration Factor

The bioconcentration factor was calculated according to Equation 1.

$$Bioconcentration Factor = \frac{Concentration_{Plant}}{Concentration_{Soil}}$$
(Equation 1)

3.7.2. Translocation Factor

The translocation factor (see Equation 2) assesses the ratio of trace metal concentration in shoots to the concentration in roots.

$$Translocation Factor = \frac{Concentration_{Shoots}}{Concentration_{Roots}}$$
(Equation 2)

3.8. Verification of accuracy of measurements

At least ten per cent of the sample number was assigned for pure extractants, which were carried along in the process of trace metal extraction.

Tobacco leaves CRM CTA-OTL-1 with certified trace metal concentrations were additionally analysed in duplicates for monitoring data quality. Attested cadmium, lead and zinc concentrations are 1.12 ± 0.12 mg kg⁻¹, 4.91 ± 0.80 mg kg⁻¹ and 49.9 ± 2.4 mg kg⁻¹, respectively. Determined trace metal concentrations in tobacco leaves averaged at 1.13 ± 0.10 mg kg⁻¹, 4.84 ± 0.41 mg kg⁻¹ and 51.5 ± 3.4 mg kg⁻¹ for cadmium, lead and zinc, respectively.

3.9. Statistical analysis

The arithmetic mean (\overline{x} ; Equation 3) and standard error of the mean (SEM; Equation 4) were determined. Sample size (n) equalled 4, if not stated differently.

Analysis of variance (one-way ANOVA) was performed using PASW[®]Statistics, Version 18.0.0, for determination of differences in trace metal concentrations and contents in plant biomass and soil resulting from growth of either species. Significance for statistical tests was accepted at $\alpha = 0.05$. ANOVA-presuppositions of homoscedasticity and normal distribution were checked using Levene's Test for homogeneity of variance and Shapiro-Wilk-Test. Posthoc Tests were attempted but not valid for the given data structure.

$$\overline{x} = \frac{1}{n-1} \sum_{i=1}^{n} x_i$$
 (Equation 3)

$$SE = \frac{\sqrt{\sum (x - \overline{x})^2}}{\sqrt{n}}$$
(Equation 4)

4. Results

The successive sections will present the results of the rhizobag- and the rhizobox-experiment separately.

4.1. Rhizobags

Two *T. caerulescens* plants growing on soil Píšťany died until the end of the experiment. The first died after installation of micro-suction cups and the second wilted after the first sampling of soil solution. Retrievable biomass of these plants was analysed, but does not contribute to determined average values presented later.

One of the *A. halleri* plants growing on soil Píšt'any was affected by caterpillars during the growth period, possibly resulting in its small growth and deformed leaves.

Table 3: Mean values (± SEM) of plant growth characteristics (biomass is given in g) in the rhizobag experiment at harvest (n=4; *: n=2).

Soil	Species	Diameter of rosette (cm)	Fresh weight of shoots	Dry weight of shoots	Fresh weight of roots	Dry weight of roots
Litavka	Arabidopsis halleri	27.4 (± 0.8)	166 (± 10)	27.9 (± 2.0)	29.0 (± 2.3)	4.4 (± 0.6)
	Thlaspi caerulescens	24.9 (± 1.1)	164 (± 10)	24.7 (± 2.3)	22.6 (± 1.2)	4.1 (± 0.4)
Píšťany	Arabidopsis halleri	18.2 (± 2.9)	47 (± 14)	10.0 (± 3.0)	4.0 (± 1.3)	1.4 (± 0.6)
	Thlaspi caerulescens*	20.7 (± 3.1)	85 (± 10)	9.8 (± 0.9)	10.0 (± 0.5)	2.4 (±0.3)

At harvest, plants grown on soil Litavka outperformed plants from soil Píšťany in diameter of the rosette and mass of shoots and roots. *A. halleri* produced on average more biomass than *T. caerulescens* when both were grown on soil Litavka. *A. halleri* plants from the less polluted soil Píšťany have grown to a lesser extent than *T. caerulescens* (Table 3).

4.1.1. Cadmium in plant biomass

As pictured in Figure 1, both plant species accumulated considerably more cadmium in shoot material than in roots when grown on soil Litavka. *T. caerulescens* absorbed significantly more cadmium than *A. halleri* per kilogram dry matter in shoots and roots on both soils.

Cadmium content (Table 4) in individual specimen of *A. halleri* ranged from 2.6 mg to 4.1 mg on soil Litavka and from 40 μ g to 230 μ g on soil Píšt'any. Examples of *T. caerulescens* grown in rhizobags incorporated between 9.9 mg and 15.1 mg cadmium on soil Litavka and between 233 μ g and 579 μ g cadmium on soil Píšt'any. The differences in cadmium content between both plant species grown on either soil were significant.

The cadmium concentration in the growth substrate was reflected in the plant material: plants grown on the highly contaminated soil Litavka had larger cadmium concentrations than those grown on soil Píšt'any. According to the bioconcentration factors, plants from soil Píšt'any accumulated relatively more cadmium (Table 4).



Figure 1: Cadmium concentrations in shoot and root material of *A. halleri* and *T. caerulescens* in mg kg⁻¹ grown on soils Litavka and Píšťany (n=4; *:n=2). Error bars indicate standard error of the mean. Data marked by the same letter are statistically different with $\alpha = 0.05$.^{17,18}

Table 4	1: Cadmium	content	(in µg) i	n biomass	and	bioconcentrati	on and	translocation	factors ((± SEM)	of
	cadmium f	or Arabia	dopsis hall	eri and Thl	ispi ca	<i>erulescens</i> grown	on exp	erimental soils	s (n=4; *:	n=2).	

Soil	Litav	vka	Píšť	any
Species	Arabidopsis halleri	Thlaspi caerulescens	Arabidopsis halleri	Thlaspi caerulescens*
Cadmium content	3200 (± 320)	12800 (± 1120)	97 (± 47)	360 (± 39)
Bioconcentration factor	3.6 (± 0.2)	16.2 (±0.6)	6.0 (± 2.1)	21.2 (± 0.4)
Translocation factor	2.6 (± 0.2)	1.9 (± 0.3)	3.1 (± 0.4)	0.8 (± 0.3)

¹⁷ Homoscedasticity (homogeneity of variance) was not observed for data on cadmium concentration of plants grown on soil Píšťany. However, the F-test is supposed to be robust to violations of this assumption (Lindeman, 1991).

¹⁸ Normal distribution of data was not identifiable for *T. caerulescens* grown on soil Píšťany, as n=2.

4.1.2. Lead in plant biomass

The lead concentration in both species was higher in the root material, regardless of the extent of the initial soil contamination (Figure 2). The shoot lead concentration of plants grown on soil Litavka amounted to less than 5% of plant root concentration. The difference in the level of contamination between root and shoot material was less pronounced on the less contaminated soil Píšt'any. The lead concentration in shoots of *A. halleri* grown on soil Litavka was significantly higher than in shoots of *T. caerulescens*. On soil Píšt'any, differences between species in lead concentration of shoots and of roots and lead content in plant material were not significant with $\alpha = 0.05$.

Lead content (Table 5) in whole plants of species *Thlaspi caerulescens* grown on soil Litavka varied from 0.9 mg to 2.6 mg and from 19 µg to 51 µg when grown on soil Píšt'any. *A. halleri* incorporated from 2.2 mg to 4.2 mg and from 8 µg to 29 µg on soil Litavka and on soil Píšt'any, respectively.

The bioconcentration factor for lead in total plant biomass was low in all four cases. The highest value was calculated for *Arabidopsis halleri* grown on soil Litavka (0.11) and was lowest for *T. caerulescens* (0.06) on soil Litavka. All values are shown in Table 5.



Figure 2: Lead concentrations in shoot and root material of *A. halleri* and *T. caerulescens* in mg kg⁻¹ dry matter. Sample size amounts to four (n=4), except *: *T. caerulescens* grown on soil Píšt'any (*:n=2). Error bars indicate standard error of the mean. Data marked by the same letter are statistically different with $\alpha = 0.05$.

Soil	Lita	vka	Píšťany				
Species	Arabidopsis halleri	Thlaspi caerulescens	Arabidopsis halleri	Thlaspi caerulescens*			
Lead content	2950 (± 440)	1420 (± 390)	19 (± 5)	17 (± 3)			
Bioconcentration factor	0.04 (± 0.01)	0.02 (± 0.01)	0.05 (± 0.03)	0.03 (± 0.00)			
Translocation factor	$0.05 (\pm 0.01)$	0.05 (± 0.02)	$0.75 (\pm 0.47)$	0.22 (± 0.06)			

Table 5: Lead content (in μg) in biomass and bioconcentration and translocation factors (± SEM) of lead for *Arabidopsis halleri* and *Thlaspi caerulescens* grown on experimental soils (n=4; *:n=2).

4.1.3. Zinc in plant biomass

A. halleri was more effective in accumulating zinc on soil Litavka, whereas it was *T. caerulescens* on soil Píšt'any, as shown by the zinc concentrations of shoots and roots in Figure 3. The averaged shoot concentration always exceeded the root zinc concentration in the dry plant matter. The root and shoot concentrations of Píšt'any-grown *A. halleri* plants did not differ to a great extent and the root concentration of single plants was higher than the shoot zinc concentration. Differences in zinc concentration in roots and shoots between *A. halleri* and *T. caerulescens* were significant when plants were grown on soil Litavka.

The zinc content of plants grown on soil Litavka was highest in *A. halleri* (Table 6). When *A. halleri* was grown on soil Píšt'any, its zinc content averaged at 8 mg, whereas the zinc content in *T. caerulescens* averaged slightly higher at 10 mg.



Figure 3: Zinc concentration in mg kg⁻¹ dry plant material of the hyperaccumulating species *A. halleri* and *T. caerulescens* (n=4, *:n=2). Error bars indicate standard error of the mean. Data marked by the same letter are statistically different with $\alpha = 0.05.$ ¹⁹

¹⁹ Homoscedasticity was not observed for data on zinc concentration in shoots of plants grown on soil Litavka.

Soil	Litav	vka	Píšťany					
Species	Arabidopsis halleri	Thlaspi caerulescens	Arabidopsis halleri	Thlaspi caerulescens*				
Zinc content	188 (± 10)	120 (± 11)	8 (± 3)	10 (± 1)				
Bioconcentration factor	1.8 (± 0.0)	1.3 (± 0.0)	3.9 (± 1.1)	4.4 (± 0.2)				
Translocation factor	$2.6 (\pm 0.0)$	2.7 (± 0.3)	1.2 (± 0.3)	2.3 (± 1.0)				

Table 6: Zinc content (in mg) in biomass and bioconcentration and translocation factors (± SEM) of zinc for *Arabidopsis halleri* and *Thlaspi caerulescens* grown on experimental soils (n=4; *:n=2).

The bioconcentration factor for zinc was for both species higher on soil Píšt'any (Table 6). Within the Píšt'any-grown plants, bioconcentration factors for *T. caerulescens* were higher than those for *A. halleri*. On soil Litavka, translocation of zinc to aerial biomass was almost similar for both species, whereas it was higher in *T. caerulescens* when grown on soil Píšt'any.

4.1.4. Trace metal concentrations in acetic acid extracts

Whenever *A. halleri* was grown, the element concentration in soil within the rhizobag was larger in comparison to that outside the bag, except for the level of extractable cadmium and zinc in soil Píšt'any (Figure 4). Here, the concentration of cadmium differed by only 11 μ g kg⁻¹ dry soil and zinc concentration was reduced by 1.78 mg kg⁻¹ soil

The concentration of soil trace metals outside the rhizobag was higher than inside when *T. caerulescens* was grown on it. As pictured in Figure 4, only the zinc concentration of soil Litavka was higher inside the rhizobag than outside.

Soil samples derived from buckets planted with *A. halleri* had a higher concentration of elements than those planted with *T. caerulescens*, independent of whether they originated inside or outside the rhizobag. This finding was only reversed by the level of lead in the "outside"-fraction of soil Píšťany.

Differences in soil trace metal concentration after growth of either species were statistically significant for the cadmium concentration inside and outside the rhizobag on soil Litavka and inside the rhizobag on soil Píšt'any.



Figure 4: Cadmium, lead and zinc concentration in soil samples from inside and outside the rhizobags. Note that cadmium and lead concentration of soil Píšt'any are plotted in μ g kg⁻¹ dry soil and data in remaining diagrams is presented in mg kg⁻¹ dry soil. Sample size totals four (n=4) and two (*: n=2) if marked with asterisk. Error bars indicate standard error of the mean. Data marked by the same letter (a, b, c) was statistically different with $\alpha = 0.05$.

4.2. Rhizoboxes

Growing the same plant species in rhizoboxes filled with either soil Píšt'any or Litavka altered results on soil and plant trace metal concentrations and on trace metal content in biomass.

All plants grown in rhizoboxes did not produce as much biomass as those from the rhizobag experiment. Table 7 reflects mean fresh weight and mean dry weight of plants at harvest.

Table 7: Biomass (in g) of roots and shoots (± SEM) of *A. halleri* and *T. caerulescens* when grown in rhizoboxes filled with soil from Litavka and Píšťany (n=4).

Soil	Species	Fresh weight of shoots	Dry weight of shoots	Fresh weight of roots	Dry weight of roots
Litavka	Arabidopsis halleri	10.7 (± 0.4)	2.0 (± 0.0)	2.7 (± 0.7)	0.3 (± 0.0)
	Thlaspi caerulescens	15.8 (± 0.4)	3.7 (± 0.5)	3.4 (± 0.8)	$0.6 (\pm 0.1)$
Píšťany	Arabidopsis halleri	2.4 (± 1.2)	0.5 (± 0.1)	0.4 (± 0.2)	< 0.1 (± 0.0)
	Thlaspi caerulescens	4.5 (± 0.4)	1.1 (± 0.1)	1.1 (± 0.2)	0.3 (± 0.0)

Overall, plants from Litavka-boxes spread more and grew more uniformly. In contrast to plants grown on the less polluted soil Píšt'any, where individual roots in front of the rhizobox membrane were distant and distinguishable, roots of plants grown on soil Litavka were more abundant and generally covered the complete membrane.

4.2.1. Cadmium in plant biomass

The concentration of cadmium in shoot material of *T. caerulescens* on both soils and from *A. halleri* when grown on soil Píšt'any was higher than in the associated root material (Figure 5). Cadmium content in *T. caerulescens* was higher than in plant tissue of *A. halleri* when grown under the same conditions (Table 8). Differences between species are significant for the cadmium content in biomass, as well as for root and shoot concentration individually.²⁰

²⁰ Even though homoscedasticity (homogeneity of variance) was not observed, the F-test is supposed to be robust to violations of this assumption (Lindeman, 1991).



Figure 5: Cadmium concentration (\pm SEM) in samples of *A. halleri* and *T. caerulescens* when grown on contaminated soils from the Czech Republic. Data marked with the same letter are statistically significantly different with $\alpha = 0.05$.

The cadmium concentration in *T. caerulescens* was roughly seven times higher than in soil Litavka, whereas cadmium concentration in *A. halleri* was twice the concentration of the growth substrate (see bioconcentration factors in Table 8). Even though cadmium content in plants grown on soil Píšt'any was lower, bioconcentration factors of plants grown on soil Píšt'any exceeded those of plants grown on soil Litavka.

Translocation of cadmium to shoots of either species was better accomplished on soil Píšt'any than on soil Litavka (Table 8). On soil Píšt'any, the difference in shoot and root concentration was highest in *A. halleri*, whereas it was higher in *T. caerulescens* on soil Litavka

Table 8: Cadmium content (in µg) in biomass and bioconcentration and translocation factors (± SEM) of cadmium for *Arabidopsis halleri* and *Thlaspi caerulescens* grown on experimental soils (n=4).

Soil	Litavka		Píšťany	
Species	Arabidopsis halleri	Thlaspi caerulescens	Arabidopsis halleri	Thlaspi caerulescens
Cadmium content	141 (±12)	886 (±128)	8.8 (±3.9)	123 (±11)
Bioconcentration factor	2.2 (± 0.2)	7.4 (± 0.3)	9.1 (± 1.9)	60.3 (± 3.3)
Translocation factor	0.8 (± 0.1)	1.5 (± 0.3)	23.3 (± 17.0)	12.8 (± 3.2)

4.2.2. Lead in plant biomass

Especially when soil from locality Litavka was the growth substrate, lead concentration in plant roots was up to 36 times higher than in shoot material. Even though lead concentration in dry root biomass of A. *halleri* was higher than in root biomass of T. *caerulecens* (Figure 6), the lead content of T. *caerulescens* was slightly higher than the lead content of A. *halleri* when grown on either soil (Table 9).

Uptake of lead was rather poor and accumulation non-existing, as all bioconcentration factors were below 0.1 (Table 9). Data in Table 9 and the illustration in Figure 6 suggest that *A. halleri* was more successful in taking up this element than *T. caerulescens*, resulting in higher lead concentrations and higher bioconcentration factors. Lead was stored in root tissue by all plants as all translocation factors (Table 9) are lower than 0.5.



Figure 6: Lead concentration (\pm SEM) in mg kg⁻¹ dry biomass of the hyperaccumulating plants *A. balleri* and *T. caerulescens* grown in two contaminated soils differing in level of pollution. Sample size was four (n=4). Statistically significant differences between species with $\alpha = 0.05$ were detected if data are marked by the same letter.²¹

Table 9: Lead content (in µg) in biomass and bioconcentration and translocation factors (± SEM) of lead for *Arabidopsis halleri* and *Thlaspi caerulescens* grown on experimental soils (n=4).

Soil	Litavka		Píšťany	
Species	Arabidopsis halleri	Thlaspi caerulescens	Arabidopsis halleri	Thlaspi caerulescens
Lead content	142 (± 12)	161 (± 20)	2.0 (± 0.2)	2.4 (±0.2)
Bioconcentration Factor	0.03 (± 0.00)	0.02 (± 0.00)	0.07 (± 0.01)	0.03 (± 0.00)
Translocation Factor	$0.06 (\pm 0.02)$	0.03 (± 0.01)	0.18 (± 0.02)	0.47 (± 0.12)

4.2.3. Zinc in plant biomass

Concentration of zinc in dry biomass of *T. caerulescens* (roots and shoots) was significantly higher than the zinc concentration of *A. halleri* when both species were grown on soil Píšt'any (Figure 7). On soil Litavka, zinc concentration in shoots of *A. halleri* was significantly higher than in *T. caerulescens*.

Zinc content in plants on either soil was higher in *T. caerulescens* (Table 10).

²¹ Homoscedasticity does not apply for data on lead concentration in shoots of plants grown on soil Litavka.

Regarding the bioconcentration factors for zinc (Table 10), plants grown on soil Píšťany absorbed a greater portion of total soil zinc than plants grown on the heavily polluted soil Litavka (bioconcentration factors ≤ 1.0). Even though *Thlaspi caerulescens* was more effective in using the available zinc sources when grown on soil Píšťany, it was performing worse than *A. halleri* when grown on soil Litavka.



Figure 7: Zinc concentration (\pm SEM) in the plant species *A*. *halleri* and *T*. *caerulescens* after growth on two contaminated soils in mg kg⁻¹ dry plant material. Sample size was four (n=4). Data marked with the same letter are statistically significantly different with $\alpha = 0.05$.

Table 10: Zinc content (in μg) in biomass and bioconcentration and translocation factors (± SEM) of zinc for *Arabidopsis halleri* and *Thlaspi caerulescens* grown on experimental soils (n=4).

Soil	Litavka		Píšťany	
Species	Arabidopsis halleri	Thlaspi caerulescens	Arabidopsis halleri	Thlaspi caerulescens
Zinc content	7210 (± 190)	8030 (± 940)	565 (± 168)	2630 (± 220)
Bioconcentration factor	1.0 (± 0.0)	0.6 (± 0.0)	4.7 (± 0.3)	9.7 (± 0.5)
Translocation factor	$1.0 (\pm 0.1)$	$0.6 (\pm 0.0)$	21.1 (± 3.2)	17.8 (± 3.5)

The translocation of zinc to shoots was low by both plant species when grown on soil Litavka (Table 10) in comparison to plants grown on the less contaminated soil Píšt'any. As a result, zinc concentration in shoots of *T. caerulescens* grown on soil Litavka was even lower than in *T. caerulescens* grown on the less contaminated soil Píšt'any (Figure 7).

4.2.4. Trace metal concentrations in acetic acid extracts

The concentrations of all three chemical elements were lower in the lower compartments (soil slice "0-2 mm" and more distance to the membrane) of rhizoboxes filled with soil Píšt'any when planted with *A. halleri* than when planted with *T. caerulescens* (Figure 8). Only soil in the upper

compartment, in direct contact to the roots of *T. caerulescens*, contained less acetic acidextractable elements than those planted with *A. halleri*.

As shown in Figure 8, lowest cadmium concentrations in acetic acid extracts of samples of soil Píšt'any were found in the root-penetrated upper compartments. Here, difference in cadmium concentration in soil influenced by either plant species was significant with $\alpha = 0,05$.

Data on cadmium concentration display that it declined with decreasing distance to the root surface. Maximum concentration was found with 4-6 mm distance to the membrane after growth of *T. caerulescens* (703 μ g kg⁻¹ dry soil) and in the 6-8 mm soil slice after growth of *A. halleri* (669 μ g kg⁻¹ dry soil). In all measurements of the lower compartment, cadmium concentration after growth of *T. caerulescens* was greater than in corresponding soil sections after growth of *A. halleri*. Significant differences in soil cadmium concentration in soil Píšt'any due to growth of the two hyperaccumulators were noticed in soil with 2-4 mm and 4-6 mm²² distance to the membrane.

A similar picture was found for the lead and zinc concentrations of soil Píšt'any (Figure 8). The lead concentration in the upper compartment was almost the same for both hyperaccumulators (*T. caerulescens*: 221 μ g kg⁻¹; *A. halleri*: 231 μ g kg⁻¹). Highest lead concentration (839 μ g kg⁻¹ dry soil) was again found with four to six millimetres distance to the membrane, when boxes were planted with *Thlaspi caerulescens*. For boxes influenced by *A. halleri*, the highest lead concentration with 702 μ g kg⁻¹ dry soil was found six to eight millimetres away from the root mat. Significant differences in soil lead concentration were noticed with 2-4 mm and 4-6 mm distance to the membrane on soil Píšt'any.

On soil Píšt'any, the zinc concentration in soil intensively influenced by plant roots (upper compartment and soil fractions with less than two millimetres distance to the membrane) was lowest, regardless of plant species grown thereon. Further data on zinc concentration were higher and also differed significantly with plant species grown on the soil.²³ When soil Píšt'any was influenced by *T. caerulescens*, it contained up to 10 mg more of acetic acid extractable zinc per kilogram dry soil than after growth of *A. halleri*.

Soil Litavka obtained from the rhizobox-experiment planted with *T. caerulescens* contained generally less exchangeable cadmium, lead and zinc than after growth of *A. halleri*. The only exception

²² Data on the soil fraction with 4-6 mm distance to the membrane do not exhibit homogeneity of variance.

²³ The soil fraction with 4-6 mm distance to the membrane does not exhibit homoscedasticity.



was the cadmium content in the bulk soil (Figure 8). The cadmium and zinc concentrations in rhizoboxes after growth of either species were lowest in the upper compartments.

Figure 8: Cadmium, lead and zinc concentrations in acetic acid extracts of dried samples (n=4) of soils Litavka and Píšťany after growth of the hyperaccumulators *A. halleri* and *T. caerulescens*. Soil fractions of rhizoboxes consist of upper compartment (U.C.), four soil slices with 2 mm width each and soil from the bulk soil. Error bars indicate the standard error of the mean. Trace metal concentrations are given in mg kg⁻¹, except concentrations of cadmium and lead of soil Píšťany (in μ g kg⁻¹). The difference in soil trace metal concentration induced by growth of either of the two species is significant with $\alpha = 0.05$ for individual soil slices, if marked with asterisk (*).

In the lower box, extractable cadmium concentration decreased from 29.9 mg kg⁻¹ dry soil to 28.2 mg kg⁻¹ dry soil with increasing distance to the membrane after growth of *A. halleri*. Besides, the cadmium concentrations in the first two soil fractions of the lower compartment (0-2 mm and 2-4 mm) were significantly higher when planted with *A. halleri* than when rhizoboxes were planted with *T. caerulescens*.

The lead concentration in rhizoboxes after growth of both plant species was highest in the upper compartment (Figure 8). When *A. halleri* was the plant grown, soil lead concentration decreased until four millimetres distance to the root and increased slightly towards the rear of the rhizobox. After growth of *T. caerulescens*, the lowest lead concentration was in the immediate root vicinity and increased with increasing distance to the membrane. Differences in soil lead concentration between the two species were significant with 0-2 mm, 2-4 mm and 4-6 mm distance to the membrane.

The acetic acid extractable zinc concentrations in the lower compartment of rhizoboxes peaked at roughly 1760 mg zinc kg⁻¹ dry soil after growth of either species. After growth of *A. halleri*, the adjacent soil slice (with 2-4 mm distance to the root surface) had an equally high zinc concentration, whereas the zinc concentration in soil with this distance to the membrane decreased to 1680 mg kg⁻¹ dry soil after growth of *T. caerulescens*.

5. Discussion

This evaluation aims at examining the differences in cadmium, lead and zinc concentration in plant matter of two hyperaccumulator plants and the resulting changes in trace metal concentration in two soils differing in level of pollution. Some considerations on the experimental procedure and general considerations on trace metal behaviour in soil will preface the discussion.

5.1. Experimental problems and considerations

The influence of mycorrhiza on the hyperaccumulation of trace metals was neglectible, as both plant species do not accommodate symbiotic fungi in pivotal amounts (Regvar et al, 2003). No measures were taken to limit the existence of bacteria and other unicellular microorganisms. Photoautotropic organisms were definitely present in the lower compartments of the rhizoboxes, predominantly at the more lucid rear panel, despite the tinfoil wrapping. Biofilms also developed in the shade of plants in rhizobags, but their influence on soil was expected to be less pronounced, due to a greater soil volume. Other microscopical life-forms were probably present in all samples, possibly influencing trace metal solubility in soil (Gadd and Sayer, 2000; Hughes and Poole, 1989; Klein and Thayer, 1990; Schinner and Sonnleitner, 1996).

The concentrations of cadmium, lead and zinc in biomass of each plant were determined in the same filtrate. Differences in metal concentrations between shoots and roots in two of the determined trace metals were usually large enough to make a substantial bias by inaccurate metal concentrations in roots for the third trace metal (e.g. the lead concentrations in Figure 2 and Figure 6) due to contamination with soil particles unlikely.

Hyperaccumulation and translocation of lead were not expected in both species. However, lead is strongly bound to the root surface and in the waterfree space of roots (Broyer et al., 1972), resulting in potential overestimation of lead concentrations in roots.

5.2. Biomass production

Both plant species grew on the contaminated soils and accumulated cadmium and zinc. In both experiments, more biomass was generally produced on the highly polluted soil Litavka. Differences in biomass production between species were also observed. In the rhizobox experiment, *T. caerulescens* produced more biomass than *A. halleri* on both soils (Table 7).

However in the rhizobag experiment, which resembled field conditions more closely, *A. halleri* grown on soil Litavka produced more biomass than *T. caerulescens* (Table 3).

Especially if plants will be used for phytoremediation, site-specific screening for high-biomass species (or even ecotypes) is advisable for high trace metal contents in plants (content [mg] = concentration [mg kg⁻¹] x biomass [kg]) (Schmidt, 2003; Shah and Nongkynrih, 2007).

5.3. Hyperaccumulation traits and phytoextraction potential

Thlaspi caerulescens and *Arabidopsis halleri* are both confirmed cadmium and zinc hyperaccumulator plants (Reeves and Brooks, 1983; Baker et al., 1994; Bert, et al., 2000; Escarré et al., 2000; Lombi et al., 2000; Zhao et al., 2000), but show no hyperaccumulation trait for lead. Therefore it comes to no surprise that neither the threshold value for hyperaccumulation of 1000 mg lead kg⁻¹ dry matter in above-ground biomass is met (Figure 2 and Figure 6), nor that factors of bioconcentration and translocation are below one (Table 5 and Table 9). Still, both species were tolerant to the soil lead levels in the experimental soils (up to 2460 mg kg⁻¹).

The hyperaccumulation threshold for metal concentration in shoots, as defined by Baker and Brooks (1989), was met by the cadmium concentrations in biomass of both species grown in rhizobags on soil Litavka (Figure 1) and in rhizoboxes by *T. caerulescens* only, though on both soils (Figure 5). However, the definition considers single plants growing under natural conditions. Criteria for hyperaccumulation have since been amended by physiological adaptations to hyperaccumulation by the plants (Reeves, 1992), such as the translocation factor and the bioconcentration factor. Here, cadmium and zinc accumulation were detected in both plant species. Bioconcentration (rhizobox experiment only) and translocation of cadmium and zinc were in both plant species higher when grown on soil Píšťany, possibly indicating, similar to the remark by Robinson et al. (1998), an inversely related effectiveness of plant physiological adaptations of accumulation to the degree of soil contamination.

For the purpose of phytoextraction however, the trace metal content in harvestable biomass is pivotal. Only the shoots of *T. caerulescens* and *A. halleri* were considered harvestable for remediative purposes due to the delicate and branched structure of plant roots.

Removal of cadmium by *T. caerulescens* amounted to 42.8% and 18.7% of total soil cadmium on soils Litavka and Píšťany, respectively²⁴. Removal rates of up to 40% of total soil cadmium were also observed by Wang et al. (2006) on a soil with a cadmium contamination level of 5 mg kg⁻¹ soil and up to 36% cadmium removal were determined for *T. caerulescens* on soil with higher cadmium contamination (25.4 mg kg⁻¹ soil). In this study, the capacity to extract cadmium from either of the the two soils differed even within the same species. However, the bioavailability of this trace metal on soil Píšťany was lower than on soil Litavka, as cadmium concentration in acetic acid extracts of unplanted aliquots of soil Píšťany contained about a third of total soil cadmium but nearly the total of soil cadmium of soil Litavka. The high potential to phytoextract cadmium is also attributable to the fact that cadmium is generally quite mobile in soil (Harter and Naidu, 2001), resulting in a relatively easily accessible cadmium fraction in soils and facilitating absorption by plants (Schwartz et al., 2003).

The potentially possible rates of zinc phytoextraction are lower than those for cadmium, reaching a removal rate of total soil zinc of approximately 7%, achieved in 391 days by *T. caerulescens* (ecotype Ganges) grown on a soil contaminated with 2920 mg zinc kg⁻¹ soil (Lombi et al., 2001). In this study, phytoextraction of zinc represented at most 5.5% of total soil zinc on soil Litavka (average of the four replicates of *A. halleri*) and 4.7% on soil Píšťany (average of the two replicates of *Thlapsi caerulescens*). On soil Litavka, the zinc concentration in *A. halleri* was higher than for *T. caerulescens* (Figure 3), resulting in higher zinc content in biomass and a higher phytoextraction potential. Whereas the zinc concentrations in biomass of both species grown on soil Píšťany were alike (Figure 3) and the higher amount of biomass of *T. caerulescens* was pivotal for a greater capacity to extract zinc.

Mitigating the risk of contaminated soils is preferable and could possibly be achieved by phytoremediation. From the data gathered in this study, removal of total cadmium and zinc of soil Píšťany would take roughly 21 croppings when using *T. caerulescens*. On soil Litavka, removing the soil cadmium content with *T. caerulescens* would be achieved within 3 years. Yet, extracting soil zinc on soil Litavka would be more tedious, lasting at least 18 years when cropping *A. halleri* and even longer (29 croppings) when *T. caerulescens* would be grown.

However, removing total soil trace metal content might not be possible and necessary. The total contaminant concentrations in soil are typically not a good indicator for bioavailability.

²⁴ Determined for the root-influenced compartment of the rhizobag experiment, assuming complete penetration by roots of each rhizobag.

Decreasing (stripping) the bioavailable trace metal fractions to within a remedial target, as proposed by Fitz et al. (2003b), would hence allow for a faster return to use of polluted soils.

Lombi et al. (2002) presented evidence that the cadmium uptake of *Thlaspi caerulescens* depends on the plants' ecotype and is ecpecially high in the ecotype Ganges. Besides, the cadmium accumulation in this ecotype is not dependent on the zinc uptake system (Zhao et al., 2002), as was proposed for the accumulation of several trace metals in samples of *T. caerulescens* from the UK (Baker et al., 1994). However, in a metallicolous population of *Arabidopsis halleri* from Blankenrode, Germany, and in backcross progenies of *A. halleri* from Northern France and *Arabidopsis lyrata* ssp. *petraea* from the Czech Republic, cadmium uptake is at least partly dependent on the zinc system (Zhao et al., 2006; Bert et al., 2003). Albeit possible differences in the pathway of cadmium uptake between ecotypes in *A. halleri*, specific cadmium carriers in the root membrane of *T. caerulescens* could explain the higher cadmium concentration in biomass of *Thlaspi caerulescens* in all experiments. Especially if the transporter for the shared cadmium/zinc uptake pathway has a high affinity for zinc and thus supresses the cadmium uptake (Pence et al, 2000).

In hydroponic experiments, accumulation of zinc by *A. halleri* seemed to be greater than by *T. caerulescens* (Shen et al., 1997; Zhao et al., 2000). This finding is in line with the data on zinc concentration of plants grown on soil Litavka only (Figure 3 and Figure 7). As has been shown by Huitson and Macnair (2003), at low soil zinc concentrations, *Arabidopsis halleri* reaches a plateau in zinc concentration much earlier than at higher soil zinc concentrations. This circumstance might be reflected in the reversed ranking of plant species with highest zinc concentration on soils Litavka and Píšťany.

5.4. Changes of metal extractability in the rhizosphere

The trace metal extractability by acetic acid was changed in the central root compartment of the rhizobags as compared to that measured in bulk soil (Figure 4). In the less contaminated soil Píšťany, the concentrations of cadmium and zinc inside the rhizobag after growth of either species were lower than outside. This difference is likely to result from uptake of bioavailable trace metal fractions by the plants. However, cadmium and zinc contents in biomass of both species were higher than the assessed depletion of trace metal content in rhizobags as determined by the soil trace metal concentration in acetic acid extracts (soil mass in rhizobags x

trace metal concentration). Replenishment of soil trace metals from less exchangeable fractions might account for the observed difference.

On the heavily polluted soil Litavka, the trace metal concentrations inside the rhizobag planted with *Arabidopsis halleri* were increased in comparison to the concentration outside the rhizobag. Hyperaccumulator plants depend on a sufficient supply of trace metals from the soil (Shen et al., 1997; Assunção and Schat, unpublished, cited in Assunção et al., 2003). However, on the highly polluted soil Litavka, the demand for trace metals by both hyperaccumulators was likely satisfied or even lower than the re-supply from less accessible fractions. This may explain that no depletion of acetic acid extractable trace elements was found in the rhizosphere of *A. halleri* (Figure 4). However, the buffer power of the polluted soil cannot explain increases of the extractable trace element fractions in soil. It is therefore assumed that trace metals were mobilised in the rhizopshere of *A. halleri* by root activities.

The exudation of low molecular organic compounds by plants (e.g. phytometallophores) triggers the formation of metal complexes, improving the metal nutrition of plants, especially in the case of metal deficiency (Fan et al., 1997). Possible impacts of such exudates on an enhanced trace metal mobilisation by hyperaccumulator plants have been studied. However, studies on A. halleri on this aspect are apparently lacking and results on other plants are being discussed controversially. Solubilisation of cadmium by organic acids and, to a lesser extent, by amino acids was observed in the rhizosphere of tobacco (Nicotiana ssp.) by Mench and Martin (1991), but not in an isotope dilution assay conducted on soil planted with T. caerulescens (Hutchinson et al., 2000). Zhao et al. (2001) found no effect of exudated organic carbon compounds on the mobilisation of zinc, cadmium, copper and iron in the rhizosphere of T. caerulescens. Whereas dissolved organic carbon forms complexes with nickel in the rhizosphere of the nickel hyperaccumulator Thlaspi goesingense Hálácsy (Wenzel et al., 2003), especially oxalate exudated by T. goesingense or associated rhizobacteria plays a role in the "ligand promoted dissolution of nickel in forsterite-type minerals" (Puschenreiter et al., 2005). Hence, differences in trace metal solubilisation between species are likely and require further studies for an in-depth examination. At low trace metal concentrations in soils (Píšťany), it appears that the rate of trace metal uptake by A. halleri exceeded the re-supply from less acessible fractions and the action of soil buffer power and root activities were not able to compensate for depletion.

6. Conclusion

Within the scope of this work it was possible to determine differences in the accumulation ability of two hyperaccumulating herbaceous plant species. *Thlaspi caerulescens*, as well as *Arabidopsis halleri*, accumulated cadmium and zinc in high amounts and complied with plant physiological criteria for hyperaccumulation. Hyperaccumulation of lead was not observed, as absorption and translocation of lead were marginal.

The potential to extract cadmium from both experimental soils was highly pronounced in both plant species. Yet, *T. caerulescens* is considered more efficient in remediating soil cadmium. The phytoextraction potential for zinc differed between plant species with the level of soil contamination, so that *A. halleri* should be the plant of choice in remedial assignments on highly polluted soil.

The concentration of bioavailable trace metals increased in the rhizosphere of *A. halleri* when grown on soil Litavka, indicating metal mobilisation by root/microbial activities. Metal mobilisation in the rhizosphere could not be observed for the other plant-soil combinations.

This study shows that plants, soil properties, in particular pollutant levels, as well as their interactions need to be considered in the design of phytoextraction technologies.

7. References

- Adams, F., 1974. Soil solution. IN: Carson, E.W. (Ed.), The plant root and its environment. University Press of Virginia, Charlottesville, USA, pp. 441-481.
- Adriano, D.C., 2001. Trace elements in terrestrial environments: biogeochemistry, bioavailability, and risks of metals. Springer, New York, USA, pp. 62-63, 293, 362-379.
- Anonymous, 2001. Public notice No. 382/2001. About the application of sewage sludge into agricultural soils. Czech Ministry of the Environment, Prague, October 17th, 2001.
- Arnon, D.I., Stout, P.R., 1939. The essentiality of certain elements in minute quantity for plants with special reference to copper. *Plant Physiology* 14, 371-375.
- Assunção, A.G.L., Schat, H., Aarts, M.G.M., 2003. *Thlaspi caerulescens*, an attractive model species to study heavy metal hyperaccumulation in plants. *New Phytologist* 159, 351-360.
- Baker, A.J.M., Brooks, R.R., 1989. Terrestrial higher plants which hyperaccumulate metallic elements. A review of their distribution, ecology and phytochemistry. *Biorecovery* 1, 81-126.
- Baker, A.J.M., Reeves, R.D., Hajar, A.S.M., 1994. Heavy metal accumulation and tolerance in British populations of the metallophyte *Thlaspi caerulescens* J. & C. PRESL (Brassicaceae). *New Phytologist* 127, 61-68.
- Bert, V., Macnair, M.R., de Laguerie, P., Saumitou-Laprade, P., Petit, D., 2000. Zinc tolerance and accumulation in metallicolous and nonmetallicolous populations of *Arabidopsis halleri* (Brassicaceae). New Phytologist 146, 225-233.
- Bert, V., Bonnin, I., Saumitou-Laprade, P., de Laguerie, P., Petit, D., 2002. Do *Arabidopsis halleri* from nonmetallicolous populations accumulate zinc and cadmium more effectively than those from metallicolous populations?. *New Phytologist* 155, 47-57.
- Bert, V., Meerts, P., Saumitou-Laprade, P., Salis, P., Gruber, W., Verbruggen, N., 2003. Genetic basis of Cd tolerance and hyperaccumulation in *Arabidopsis halleri*. *Plant and Soil* 249, 9-18.
- Bertin, C., Yang, X., Weston, L.A., 2003. The role of root exudates and allelochemicals in the rhizosphere. *Plant and Soi*l 256, 67-83.
- Bowman, J., 1994. Arabidopsis: an atlas of morphology and development. Springer-Verlag New York Inc., pp. 91-131.
- Brooks, R.R., Lee, J., Reeves, R.D., Jaffre, T., 1977. Detection of nickeliferous rocks by analysis of herbarium specimens of indicator plants. *Journal of Geochemical Exploration* 7, 49-57.
- Broyer, T. C., Johnson, C.M., Paull, R.E., 1972. Some aspects of lead in plant nutrition. *Plant and Soil* 36, 301-313.
- Bundes-Bodenschutz- und Altlastenverordnung (BBodSchV), 1999. BGB1, I. Teil, Nr.36 vom 16.7.1999, S.1554 ff., Anhang 2: Maßnahmen-, Prüf- und Vorsorgewerte, 4.1 Vorsorgewerte für Metalle. Version of June 16th, 1999.
- Campbell, N.A., Reece, J.B., 2002. The Chemical Context of Life. Pearson Education, Inc., publishing as Benjamin Cummings, pp. 27f..
- Campbell, R., Greaves, M.P., 1990. Anatomy and structure of the rhizosphere. Wiley-Interscience Publication, pp. 11-34.

- Chen, B., Shand, C.A., Beckett, R., 2001. Determination of total and EDTA extractable metal distributions in the colloidal fraction of contaminated soils using SdFFF-ICP-HRMS. *Journal of Environmental Monitoring* 3, 7-14.
- Chojnacka, K., Chojnacki, A., Górecka, H., Górecki, H., 2005. Bioavailability of heavy metals from polluted soils to plants. *Science of the Total Environment* 337, 175-182.
- Commission of the European Communities, 2002. Towards a Thematic Strategy for Soil Protection. Communication from the Commission to the Council, the European Parliament, the Economic and Social Committee and the Committee of the Regions, Brussels, 16.4.2002. COM(2002) 179 final, pp. 9-17, In: EUR-Lex. Access to European Union Law. URL: http://eur-lex.europa.eu/LexUriServ/LexUriServ.do?uri=COM:2002:0179:FIN:EN:PDF (last accessed: November 9th, 2009).
- Cunningham, S.D., Berti, W.R., Huang, J.W., 1995. Phytoremediation of contaminated soils. *Trends in Biotechnology* 13, 393-397.
- Cunningham, S.D., Ow, D.W., 1996. Promises and prospects of phytoremediation. *Plant Physiology* 110, 715-719.
- Duffus, J.H., 2002. "Heavy Metals" a meaningless term?. Pure and Applied Chemistry 74, 793-807.
- Eklund, M., 1995. Cadmium and lead deposition around a Swedish battery plant as recorded in oak tree rings. *Journal of Environmental Quality* 24, 126-131.
- Ernst, W.H.O., 1996. Bioavailability of heavy metals and decontamination of soils by plants. *Applied Geochemistry* 11, 163-167.
- Escarré, J., Lefèbvre, C., Gruber, W., LeBlanc, M., Lepart, J., Rivière, Y., Delay, B., 2000. Zinc and cadmium hyperaccumulation by *Thlaspi caerulescens* from metalliferous and nonmetalliferous sites in the Mediterranean area: implications for phytoremediation. *New Phytologist* 145, 429-437.
- Fan, T.W.-M., Lane, A.N., Pedler, J., Crowley, D., Higashi, R.M., 1997. Comprehensive analysis of organic ligands in whole root exudates using nuclear magnetic resonance and gas chromatography-mass spectrometry. *Analytical Biochemistry* 251, 57-68.
- Fitz, W.J., Wenzel, W.W., Wieshammer, G., Istenič, B., 2003a. Microtome sectioning causes artifacts in rhizobox experiments. *Plant and Soil* 256, 455-462.
- Fitz, W.J., Wenzel, W.W., Zhang, H., Nurmi, J., Stipek, k., Fischerova, Z., Schweiger, P., Köllensperger, G., Ma, L.Q., Stingeder, G., 2003b. Rhizosphere characteristics of the arsenic hyperaccumulator *Pteris vittata* L. and monitoring of phytoremoval efficiency. *Environmental Science and Technology* 37, 5008-5014.
- Gadd, G.M., Sayer, J.A., 2000. Influence of Fungi on the Environmental Mobility of Metals and Metalloids. IN: Lovley, D.R. (Ed.). Environmental Microbe-Metal Interactions. American Society for Microbiology (ASM) Press Washington, pp. 237-256.
- Harley, J.L., Harley, E.L., 1987. A check-list of mycorrhiza in the British flora. New Phytologist 105, 1-102.
- Harter, R.D., Naidu, R., 2001. An assessment of environmental and solution parameter impact on trace-metal sorption by soils. *Soil Science Society of America Journal* 65, 597-612.

- Haynes, R.J., 1990. Active ion uptake and maintenance of cation-anion balance: A critical examination of their role in regulating rhizosphere pH. *Plant and Soil* 126, 247-264.
- Hiltner, L., 1904. Über neuere Erfahrungen und Probleme auf dem Gebiet der Bodenbakteriologie unter besonderer Berücksichtigung der Gründüngung und Brache. *Arbeiten der deutschen Landwirtschaftsgesellschaft* 98, 59-78.
- Himmelbauer, M.L., Puschenreiter, M., Schnepf, A., Loiskandl, W., Wenzel, W., 2005. Root morphology of *Thlapsi goesingense* Hálácsy grown on a serpentine soil. *Journal of Plant Nutrition* and Soil Science 168, 138-144.
- Hoffland, E., Wei, C., Wissuwa, M., 2006. Organic anion exudation by lowland rice (*Oryza sativa* L.) at zinc and phosphorus deficiency. *Plant and Soil* 283, 155-162.
- Hucklenbroich, C., 2010. Zu viel Cadmium: Schatten über der edlen Kakaokultur. IN: Frankfurter Allgemeine Zeitung, online edition. As of February 2010. URL: http://www.faz.net/s/Rub268AB64801534CF288DF93BB89F2D797/Doc~E45BB9 93343524D8DB89164689918F657~ATpl~Ecommon~Scontent.html (last accessed: February 6th, 2010).
- Hughes, M.N., Poole, R.K., 1989. Metals and Micro-organisms. Chapman and Hall, pp. 259, 264, 272, 278, 280.
- Huitson, S.B., Macnair, M.R., 2003. Does zinc protect the zinc hyperaccumulator Arabidopsis halleri from herbivory by snails. New Phytologist 159, 453-459.
- Hutchinson, J.J., Young, S.D., McGrath, S.P., West, H.M., Black, C.R., Baker, A.J.M., 2000. Determining uptake of 'non-labile' soil cadmium by *Thlaspi caerulescens* using isotope dilution techniques. *New Phytologist* 146, 453-460.
- Jones, D.L., 1998. Organic acids in the rhizosphere a critical review. Plant and Soil 205, 25-44.
- Jungk, A., 2001. Root hairs and the acquisition of plant nutrients from soil. *Journal of Plant Nutrition and Soil Science* 164, 121-129.
- Kabata-Pendias, A., 1995. Agricultural problems related to excessive trace metal contents of soils. IN: Salomons, W., Förstner, U., Mader, P. (Eds.). Heavy metals: problems and solutions. Springer-Verlag, pp. 3-18.
- Ketelaar, T., Galway, M.E., Mulder, B.M., Emons, A.M.C., 2008. Rates of exocytosis and endocytosis in *Arabidopsis* root hairs and pollen tubes. *Journal of Microscopy* 231, 265-273.
- Klein, D.A., Thayer, J.S., 1990. Interactions between soil microbial communities and organometallic compounds. IN: Bollag, J.-M., Stotzky, G. (Eds.). Soil Biochemistry. Marcel Dekker Inc. New York, pp. 431-481.
- Knight, B., Zhao, F.J., McGrath, S.P., Shen, Z.G., 1997. Zinc and cadmium uptake by the hyperaccumulator *Thlaspi caerulescens* in contaminated soils and its effects on the concentration and chemical speciation of metals in soil solution. *Plant and Soil* 197, 71-78.
- Kookana, R.S., Naidu, R., Barry, D.A., Tran, Y.T., Bajracharya, K., 1999. Sorption-Desorption equilibria and dynamics of cadmium during transport in soil. IN: Selim, H.M., Iskandar, I.K. (Eds.). Fate and transport of heavy metals in the vadose zone. CRC Press, USA, pp. 59-90.
- Küpper, H., Zhao, F.J., McGrath, S.P., 1999. Cellular compartmentation of zinc in leaves of the hyperaccumulator *Thlaspi caerulescens*. *Plant Physiology* 119, 305-311.

- Küpper, H., Lombi, E., Zhao, F.-J., McGrath, S.P., 2000. Cellular compartmentation of cadmium and zinc in relation to other elements in the hyperaccumulator *Arabidopsis halleri*. *Planta* 212, 75-84.
- Kutschera, L., Sobotik, M., Lichtenegger, E., 1992. Wurzelatlas mitteleuropäischer Grünlandpflanzen. Gustav Fischer Verlag Stuttgart, pp. 82ff..
- Lasat, M.M., Baker, A.J.M., Kochian, L.V., 1998. Altered Zn compartmentation in the root symplasm and stimulated Zn absorption into the leaf as mechanisms involved in Zn hyperaccumulation in *Thlaspi caerulescens*. *Plant Physiology* 118, 875-883.
- Lasat, M.M., 2000. Phytoextraction of metals from contaminated soil: A review of plant/soil/metal interaction and assessment of pertinent agronomic issues. *Journal of Hazardous Substance Research* 2, 5-1 – 5-25.
- Lasat, M.M., 2002. Phytoextraction of toxic metals: A review of biological mechanisms. *Journal of Environmental Quality* 31, 109-120.
- Lindeman, H.R., 1991. Analysis of Variance in Experimental Design. Springer-Verlag New York, Inc., pp. 21ff..
- Lombi, E., Zhao, F.J., Dunham, S.J., McGrath, S.P., 2000. Cadmium accumulation in populations of *Thlaspi caerulescens* and *Thlaspi goesingense*. New Phytologist 145, 11-20.
- Lombi, E., Zhao, F.J., Dunham, S.J., McGrath, S.P., 2001. Phytoremediation of heavy metalcontaminated soils: Natural hyperaccumulation versus chemically enhanced phytoextraction. *Journal of Environmental Quality* 30, 1919-1926.
- Lombi, E., Tearall, K.L., Howarth, J.R., Zhao, F.-J., Hawkesford, M.J., McGrath, S.P., 2002. Influence of iron status on cadmium and zinc uptake by different ecotypes of the hyperaccumulator *Thlaspi caerulescens*. *Plant Physiology* 128, 1-9.
- Lucas, R.E., Davis, J.F., 1961. Relationships between pH values of organic soils and availabilities of 12 plant nutrients. *Soil Science* 92, 177-182.
- Luo, Y.M., Christie, P., Baker, A.J.M., 2000. Soil solution Zn and pH dynamics in nonrhizosphere soil and in the rhizosphere of *Thlaspi caerulescens* grown in a Zn/Cd-contaminated soil. *Chemosphere* 41, 161-164.
- Macnair, M.R., 2002. Within and between population genetic variation for zinc accumulation in Arabidopsis halleri. New Phytologist 155, 59-66.
- Mádico J, Poschenrieder C, Vázquez MD, Barceló J (1992) Effects of high zinc and cadmium concentrations on the metallophye *Thlaspi caerulescens* J. et C. PRESL. (Brassicaceae). *Suelo y Planta* 2, 495-504.
- Marschner, H., 1995. Mineral nutrition of higher plants. Academic Press, London, UK.
- McGrath, S.P., Shen, Z.G., Zhao, F.J., 1997. Heavy metal uptake and chemical changes in the rhizosphere of *Thlaspi caerulescens* and *Thlaspi ochroleucum* grown in contaminated soils. *Plant and Soil* 188, 153-159.

- McNeill, J., Barrie, F.R., Burdet, H.M., Demoulin, V., Hawkswoth, D.L., Marhold, K., Nicolson, D.H., Prado, J., Silva, P.C., Skog, J.E., Wiersema, J.H., Turland, N.J. (Eds.), 2006. International Code of Botanical Nomenclature (Vienna Code). Regnum Vegetabile 146. Chapter:Art. 18.5. IN: International Association for Plant Taxonomy. As of March 2007. URL: http://ibot.sav.sk/icbn/main.htm (last accessed: April 16th, 2010).
- Meagher, R.B., 2000. Phytoremediation of toxic elemental and organic pollutants. *Current Opinion in Plant Biology* 3, 153-162.
- Mench, M., Martin, E., 1991. Mobilization of cadmium and other metals from two soils by root exudates of Zea mays L., Nicotiana tabacum L. and Nicotiana rustica L.. Plant and Soil 132, 187-196.
- Menzies, N.W., Donn, M.J., Kopittke, P.M., 2007. Evaluation of extractants for estimation of the phytoavailable trace metals in soils. *Environmental Pollution* 145, 121-130.
- Milner, M.J., Kochian, L.V., 2008. Investigating heavy-metal hyperaccumulation using *Thlaspi* caerulescens as a model system. Annals of Botany 102, 3-13.
- Newman, E.I., Reddell, P., 1987. The distribution of mycorrhizas among families of vascular plants. *New Phytologist* 4, 745-751.
- ÖNORM L 1075. Zulässige Grenzwerte (Richtwerte) für Schadstoffe in Klärschlamm und Boden, 2003. Umweltbundesamt. Version of October 30th, 2003.
- Papoyan, A., Piñeros, M., Kochian, L.V., 2007. Plant Cd²⁺ and Zn²⁺ status effects on root and shoot heavy metal acuumulation in *Thlaspi caerulescens*. New Phytologist 175, 51-58.
- Pence, N.S., Larsen, P.B., Ebbs, S.D., Letham, D.L.D., Lasat, M.M., Garvin, D.F., Eide, D., Kochian, L.V., 2000. The molecular physiology of heavy metal transport in the Zn/Cd hyperaccumulator *Thlaspi caerulescens*. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 97, 4956-4960.
- Puschenreiter, M., Schnepf, A., Millán, I.M., Fitz, W.J., Horak, O., Klepp, J., Schrefl, T., Lombi, E., Wenzel, W.W., 2005. Changes of Ni biogeochemistry in the rhizosphere of the hyperaccumulator *Thlaspi goesingense*. *Plant and Soil* 271, 205-218.
- Reeves, R.D., Brooks, R.R., 1983. Hyperaccumulation of lead and zinc by two metallophytes from mining areas of Central Europe. *Environmental Pollution* (Series A) 31, 277-285.
- Reeves, R.D., 1992. The hyperaccumulation of nickel by serpentine plants. IN: Baker, A.J.M., Proctor, J., Reeves, R.D. (eds.), The vegetation of ultramafic (serpentine) soils. Intercept Limited, Andover, England, pp. 253-277.
- Reeves, R.D., Baker A.J.M., 2000. Metal-accumulating plants. IN: Raskin, I., Ensley, B.D. (Eds.), Phytoremediation of toxic metals: Using Plants to clean up the environment. John Wiley & Sons, Inc., New York, USA, pp. 193-230.
- Regvar, M., Vogel, K., Irgel, N., Wraber, T., Hildebrandt, U., Wilde, P., Bothe, H., 2003. Colonization of pennycresses (*Thlaspi spp.*) of the Brassicaceae by arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi. *Journal of Plant Physiology* 160, 615-626.
- Robbins, C.W., 1985. The CaCO₃-CO₂-H₂0 system in soils. Journal of Agronomic Education 14, 3-7.

- Robinson, B.H., Leblanc, M., Petit, D., Brooks, R.R., Kirkman, J.H., Gregg, P.E.H., 1998. The potential of *Thlaspi caerulescens* for phytoremediation of contaminated soils. *Plant and Soil* 203, 47-56.
- Römkens, P.F.A.M., Salomons, W., 1998. Cd, Cu and Zn solubility in arable and forest soils: consequences of land use changes for metal mobility and risk assessment. *Soil Science* 163, 859-871.
- Sachs, J., 1865. Handbuch der Experimental-Physiologie der Pflanzen: Untersuchungen über die allgemeinsten Lebensbedingungen der Pflanzen und die Functionen ihrer Organe. Engelmann, Leipzig, Germany, pp. 153ff.
- Salt, D.E., Blaylock, M., Kumar, N.P.B.A., Dushenkov, V., Ensley, B.D., Chet, I., Raskin, I., 1995. Phytoremediation: A novel strategy for the removal of toxic metals from the environment using plants. *Biotechnology* 13, 468-474.
- Schinner, F., Sonnleitner, R., 1996. Bodenökologie. Band 1. Mikrobiologie und Bodenenzymatik: Grundlagen, Klima, Vegetation und Bodentyp. Springer-Verlag Berlin, pp. 117ff., 122, 149.
- Schmidt, U., 2003. Enhancing phytoextraction: The effect of chemical soil manipulation on mobility, plant accumulation, and leaching of heavy metals. *Journal of Environmental Quality* 32, 1939-1954.
- Schwab, A.P., Zhu, D.S., Banks, M.K., 2008. Influence of organic acids on the transport of heavy metals in soil. *Chemosphere* 72, 986-994.
- Schwartz, C., Echevarria, G., Morel, J.L., 2003. Phytoextraction of cadmium with *Thlaspi* caerulescens. Plant and Soil 249, 27-35.
- Shah, K., Nongkynrih, J.M., 2007. Metal hyperaccumulation and bioremediation. *Biologia Plantarum* 51, 618-634.
- Shen, Z.G., Zhao, F.J., McGrath, S.P., 1997. Uptake and transport of zinc in the hyperaccumulator *Thlaspi caerulescens* and the non-hyperaccumulator *Thlaspi ochroleucum*. *Plant, Cell* and Environment 20, 898-906.
- Sims, J.R., Haby, V.A., 1971. Simplified colorimetric determination of soil organic matter. *Soil Science* 112, 137-141.
- Száková, J., Tlustoš, P., Balík, J., Pavlíková, D., Balíková, M., 2000. Efficiency of extractants to release As, Cd and Zn from main soil compartments. *Analusis* 28, 808-812.
- Száková, J., Tlustoš, P., Goessler, W. Frková, Z., Najmanová, J., 2009. Mobility of arsenic and its compounds in soil and soil solution: The effect of soil pretreatment and extraction methods. *Journal of Hazardous Materials* 172, 1244-1251.
- Taiz, L., Zeiger, E., 2000. Pflanzenphysiologie. Spektrum Akademischer Verlag GmbH, pp. 101ff..
- Wang, A.S., Angle, J.S., Chaney, R.L., Delorme, T.A., Reeves, R.D., 2006. Soil pH effects on uptake of Cd and Zn by *Thlaspi caerulescens*. *Plant and Soil* 281, 325-337.
- Wenzel, W.W., Wieshammer, G., Fitz, W.J., Puschenreiter, M., 2001. Novel rhizobox design to assess rhizosphere characteristics at high spatial resolution. *Plant and Soil* 237, 37-45.

- Wenzel, W.W., Bunkowski, M., Puschenreiter, M., Horak, O., 2003. Rhizosphere characteristics of indigenously growing nickel hyperaccumulator and excluder plants on serpentine soil. *Environmental Pollution* 123, 131-138.
- Whipps, J.M., 1990. Carbon economy. Wiley-Interscience Publications, pp. 59-98.
- Whiting, S.N., Leake, J.R., McGrath, S.P., Baker, A.J.M., 2000. Positive responses to Zn and Cd by roots of the Zn and Cd hyperaccumulator *Thlaspi caerulescens*. *Planta* 201, 209-218.
- Whiting, S.N., De Souza, M.P., Terry, N., 2001. Rhizosphere bacteria mobilize Zn for hyperaccumulation by *Thlaspi caerulescens*. *Environmental Science and Technology* 35, 3144-3150.
- Whiting, S.N., Broadley, M.R., White, P.J., 2003. Applying a solute transfer model to phytoextraction: Zinc acquisition by *Thlaspi caerulescens*. *Plant and Soil* 249, 45-46.
- Yong, R.N., Mohamed, A.M.O., Warkentin, B.P., 1992. Principles of contaminant transport in soils. Elsevier Science Publishers B.V., Amsterdam, The Netherlands, pp. 143ff..
- Zhao, F.J., Lombi, E., Breedon, T., McGrath, S.P., 2000. Zinc hyperaccumulation and cellular distribution in *Arabidopsis halleri*. *Plant, Cell and Environment* 23, 507-514.
- Zhao, F.J., Hamon, R.E., McLaughlin, M.J., 2001. Root exudates of the hyperaccumulator *Thlaspi caerulescens* do not enhance metal mobilization. *New Phytologist* 151, 613-620.
- Zhao, F.J., Hamon, R.E., Lombi, E., McLaughlin, M.J., McGrath, S.P., 2002. Characteristics of cadmium uptake in two contrasting ecotypes of the hyperaccumulator *Thlaspi caerulescens*. *Journal of Experimental Botany* 53, 535-543.
- Zhao, F.J., Jiang, R.F., Dunham, S.J., McGrath, S.P., 2006. Cadmium uptake, translocation and tolerance in the hyperaccumulator *Arabidopsis halleri*. *New Phytologist* 172, 646-654.

8. Declaration of Authorship

I confirm that the thesis at hand is my own work; and that all published or other sources of material consulted have been acknowledged in notes to the text or the bibliography. The thesis in this form or in any other form has not been submitted to an examination body and has not been published.

Hiermit versichere ich, dass ich die vorliegende Arbeit selbständig und nur unter Benutzung der angegebenen Literatur und Hilfsmittel angefertigt habe. Die Arbeit hat in gleicher oder ähnlicher Form noch keiner Prüfungsbehörde vorgelegen und ist auch noch nicht veröffentlicht.